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CORPORATE PROFILE

Founded in 1928, The Lubrizol Corporation is a fluid technology company that 

provides high-performance chemicals, systems and services for transportation and industry

in markets throughout the world. With headquarters in Cleveland, Ohio, Lubrizol operates

manufacturing and blending facilities, laboratories and offices around the world and

employs approximately 5,200 people. 

Lubrizol’s fluid technologies for transportation improve the operating efficiency and

reduce the environmental impact of all types of vehicles. Lubrizol is a market leader 

in specialty additives for lubricants and fuels, its largest and longest-standing business.

Lubrizol’s fluid technologies for industry are chemical products and systems that

enhance performance and reduce environmental hazards and health exposure in industrial

operations. Applications for these products are found in coatings and inks, compressor

lubricants, metalworking fluids and defoamers.

As it pursues a broad vision of “Fluid technologies for a better world,TM” Lubrizol is

exploring new markets where it can apply its technologies and expertise. Emerging new

lines of business are advanced fluid systems and the management of fluid contaminants,

including filtration, remediation and emission control.

Ta k e  a  C l o s e r  L o o k

As we celebrate our 75th anniversary, we invite our investors, customers and

other stakeholders to take a closer look at Lubrizol. Some of you may find your-

selves rethinking some long-held assumptions about our company and its markets.

If you have assumed that there is no growth in the lubricant additive industry,

for example, our positive growth record in this key market will suggest otherwise.

If you have thought of Lubrizol only as a supplier of lubricant additives to 

the transportation industry, you may be surprised that a series of successful

acquisitions, as well as organic growth, have enabled us to build a vital business

in fluid technologies for industry, with sales in 2002 of more than $380 million.

If you have thought of Lubrizol as a producer of chemical products, a closer

look will show that Lubrizol is enhancing its traditional offerings with systems 

and services that provide new opportunities for profitable growth.

At Lubrizol, most of our breakthroughs take place at the molecular level,

smaller than the eye can see. However, for 75 years, those breakthroughs have

made life easier, safer and better. Take a closer look at Lubrizol, and you will see 

a dynamic, evolving organization that is dedicated to making the world a better

place through technology. You will also see that we remain committed to the 

values of honesty, integrity and respect on which our company was founded in

1928. Time has proved these values of our founders to be the bedrock of a 

successful business. Take a closer look, and you will see that we are moving into

exciting new products, markets and technologies without leaving the essential

sources of our success behind.   
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THE LUBRIZOL CORPORATION
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Increase
(IN MILLIONS EXCEPT PER SHARE AND EMPLOYEE DATA) 2002 2001 (Decrease)

OPERATIONS:

Revenues  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,983.9 $1,844.6 8%

Income before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle  . . . 126.3 94.1 34%

Net Income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 118.5 94.1 26%

Income per share before cumulative effect of a change 

in accounting principle  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.45 1.84 33%

Net income per share  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.30 1.84 25%

Dividends per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1.04 1.04 

Cash provided from operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 244.9 195.8 25%

Return on average shareholders’ equity before cumulative effect 

of a change in accounting principle  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15% 12%

FINANCIAL POSITION:

Total assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,860.1 $1,662.3 12%

Shareholders’ equity  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 869.3 773.2 12%

Debt as a percent of capitalization.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32% 34%

OTHER:

Capital expenditures  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 65.3 $ 66.3 (2%)

Shares outstanding at December 31 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 51.5 51.2 

Number of employees  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,231 4,530 15%

COMMON SHARE PRICE HISTORY

2002 2001

High Low High Low

1st quarter  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $36.18 $31.75 $33.65 $24.13 

2nd quarter  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 36.36 32.26 33.69 28.25 

3rd quarter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 33.55 27.01 37.69 28.00 

4th quarter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31.60 26.20 35.75 27.75 
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I AM HAPPY TO REPORT THAT 2002 WAS A YEAR OF OUTSTANDING FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

AND RESPECTABLE PROGRESS TOWARD OUR VISION OF GROWTH AS A FLUID TECHNOLOGY COMPANY. 
WE ACHIEVED RECORD REVENUES AND AN INCREASE OF 33 PERCENT IN OPERATING EARNINGS

PER SHARE FOR THE YEAR, THANKS PRIMARILY TO OUR HIGHEST-EVER SHIPMENT VOLUMES AND

AN UNUSUALLY LOW TAX RATE. CONSISTENT WITH PAST PERFORMANCE, WE GENERATED STRONG

FREE CASH FLOW, WHICH LED TO AN EVEN STRONGER BALANCE SHEET AT YEAR-END THAN WHEN

WE ENTERED 2002.
If you look more closely at our performance by segment, you will see the sources of our success.

Fluid technologies for transportation (FTT), which includes most of Lubrizol’s traditional additives

for lubricants and fuels, contributed almost 80 percent of the company’s revenue. 

FTT revenues increased 4 percent over 2001 despite slow market growth, while contribution income

increased 10 percent. Our performance reflects our market position with North American and European

customers who gained share themselves, as well as manufacturing productivity improvements, expense

control and effective management of joint ventures in India and China. We expanded our product 

offering beyond chemistry by launching a business to provide supply-chain services for our customers,

and we created a powerful product platform to meet the emissions reductions called for in the challenging

2004 passenger car engine oil specifications. Finally, we improved efficiency by expanding e-business

transactions with customers and suppliers.

By focusing on chemistry to improve performance in industrial operations, fluid technologies for

industry (FTI) approached $400 million in revenues. FTI grew faster than nearly all of its markets as a

result of successful product introductions, market expansion, superior technical service and acquisitions.

FTI’s 2002 acquisitions totaled about

$85 million in annualized revenues. Some 

of these acquisitions, such as Chemron 

with its specialty surfactants and Kabo and

Brose with their defoamers, gave us access

to higher-growth markets where we can

apply traditional Lubrizol technical expertise.

Dock Resins in paints, coatings and inks

gave us new technologies for markets where

we hold a leadership position. Our rigorous

process for integrating acquisitions and

deriving synergies has given us a portfolio of

acquisitions that are showing good strategic

fit and financial performance. Though I am

disappointed that we did not complete

more acquisitions, I am also satisfied that

we walked away from several that did not

meet our strict criteria for financial returns.

T O O U R S H A R E H O L D E R S :

W. G. Bares
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Ta k e  a  C l o s e r  L o o k

Other businesses made steady progress and hold promise for earnings contributions beyond 2003. In 

emulsified products, we reached an important milestone in October 2002, when the United States Environmental

Protection Agency registered PuriNOx™ fuel for use in on-road vehicles. PuriNOx customers now include some 

of the world’s largest fuel marketers. We are also moving forward with advanced fluid systems, developing and

field-testing sensors that detect fluid deterioration, as well as systems that replenish fluids in vehicles — without

costly downtime.

Looking ahead to 2003, we face challenges to earnings growth as we return to a more normal tax rate.

Nevertheless, we are excited by the outlook for good progress in implementing our fluid technology growth 

strategy and for revenue growth in our newer businesses. Within FTT, we will maintain our commitment to 

innovation and excellent operational management. Through FTI, we will continue to spread our fluid technology

knowledge across more products and markets. And our emerging businesses in emulsified products and

advanced fluid systems, with their potential for positive impact on the environment, will take us even further into

the future of fluid technology. We will actively pursue acquisitions that will expand our product offerings and extend

our market reach in targeted growth areas. 

As we face the excitement and challenges of the coming year, I will miss the guidance of M. Thomas Moore, 

a member of our Board of Directors who passed away in October after five years on our Board. Tom was a 

valuable counselor, an accomplished leader and a strong advocate for our growth vision. His legacy will be seen

as we continue to move more boldly toward that vision. And as the scope and complexity of our businesses

expand, I look forward to partnering with James L. Hambrick, who was elected President by the Board in January

2003. James and I will work together to run the business and to lead Lubrizol toward its vision of developing fluid

technologies for a better world. 

As I reflect on where we have been over the last 75 years and where we are going, I am grateful for the 

far-sightedness and the principles of our founders. They recognized the power of technology to improve

the lives of people around the world and to provide steady long-term growth for the company and its

owners. They believed that a corporation is obligated to behave in an honest and ethical manner with its

investors, customers, employees and the community. They articulated ideals in 1928 that have been embraced by

generations of Lubrizol’s managers and employees and that have made Lubrizol the fine company that it is today. 

I invite you to take a closer look at Lubrizol in the pages of this annual report. You will find the details of

Lubrizol’s financial condition and the results of our operations in the management’s discussion and analysis section.

Also, take a closer look at the descriptions of our operating segments and end-use applications, which are 

featured throughout these pages. I think you may be surprised to see how widely Lubrizol’s products are used

every day by people all over the world, and you may be pleased to learn how we are broadening our products,

technologies and markets to fulfill our vision of providing fluid technologies for a better world. 

It is my pleasure to express appreciation for your commitment and your investment in Lubrizol, on behalf 

of the Board of Directors, our officers and all our employees who are working to make the world a better place.

W. G. Bares

March 19, 2003 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 



SMALL ENGINE ADDITIVES:
Protecting against damage 

in two-stroke engines.

TA K E A CL O S E R LO O K:

A  Q u i e t  R e v o l u t i o n
i n  F l u i d  Te c h n o l o g y

f o r  Tr a n s p o r t a t i o n
Seventy-five years ago, our founders recognized that the transportation

revolution would change the world. They saw an opportunity to enhance

vehicle performance, and they ended up creating the lubricant additives

business. Decades later, the transportation revolution quietly continues, 

and Lubrizol is still at the forefront, providing a continuing stream of fluid

technologies that make the future of transportation possible. 

Changes in vehicle exteriors in the last 75 years are obvious — just

compare a late-model van with the Model T or even the family station

wagon from the 1960s. Under the hood, streamlined designs, cleaner-

running engines, fuel injection systems and other innovations have redefined

transportation for the 21st century. Harder yet to see, but no less significant,

are changes in the lubricants, fuels and other performance fluids that keep

our vehicles running. More than half the products we sell today were 

developed in the last five years. Frequent specification changes, such as 

the pending GF-4 upgrade for passenger car motor oils, build obsolescence

into additive technology and create the need for constant product upgrades.

Original equipment manufacturers (OEMs), too, continue to push boundaries

with advanced equipment designs that require new fluid technology.

We believe that our capability for discovery is as vital to continued 

success in our traditional business as it is to our expansion into new 

business areas. That is why we have built the strongest research and devel-

opment organization in the industry, with technical centers in the United

States, Europe and Asia Pacific. With more than 1,800 patents in force

around the world, we deliver answers to pressing problems on a daily basis.

Creating and combining chemicals to impart specific performance charac-

teristics to fluids may seem far removed from everyday life, but if you look

closely, you will notice the impact of Lubrizol products everywhere around

you. You will never see the molecules, but you will experience their effect 

in engines and equipment that run smoother and last longer, in vehicles that

are safer and more dependable, and in air quality that benefits from fewer

harmful emissions.

GEAR ADDITIVE TECHNOLOGY:
Preventing damage to gears in both

automotive and industrial applications.
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ADVANCED GASOLINE AND DIESEL FUEL ADDITIVES:
Providing total engine cleanliness.

HEAVY-DUTY DIESEL LUBRICANTS:
Extending service intervals and 

improving air quality.

AUTOMATIC TRANSMISSION FLUIDS:
Preventing damage from wear,

deposits and oxidation.

LUBRICANT ADDITIVES:
Protecting one in every three 
passenger cars worldwide.



DEFOAMER TECHNOLOGY:
Preventing problems in the processing

of sodas and sweeteners.

COATING PRODUCTS:
Imparting scratch, abrasion and mar

resistance to powder coatings.

METALWORKING FLUIDS:
Protecting machinery used in the production 

of metal parts and engines.

SURFACTANTS:
Improving the compatibility of personal care 

formulations, like sunscreen.

COATING ADDITIVES:
Improving the performance of wood stain
and lessening harmful solvent emissions.
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AMPS® MONOMER:
Enhancing the performance

characteristics of acrylic fibers.

COATING ADDITIVES:
Enhancing metallic coatings 

on automotive surfaces.

TA K E A CL O S E R LO O K:

M o r e  t h a n  
L u b r i c a n t  A d d i t i v e s

Although Lubrizol has been best known for its lubricant additives for

transportation, we are more than fluid technologies for transportation. Our

knowledge of fluids and our capacity for discovery and invention allow us 

to leverage chemicals and technologies initially designed for transportation

in industrial applications — and vice versa. 

Generating revenue of more than $380 million, our fluid technologies

for industry encompass a variety of products and serve a number of end-

use markets. Just over half of this revenue comes from industrial fluids 

for traditional applications, such as hydraulics, metalworking, grease and 

compressor lubricants. The remainder comes from relatively new market

opportunities. One of these is defoamers. Foam, which results from the

contamination of pure liquids during processing, is a problem in many

industries. Lubrizol’s foam control chemistry now prevents or eliminates

foam in applications such as food and beverage processing, paints and

coatings production and metal manufacturing. Another emerging business

for Lubrizol is specialty surfactants, which are found in personal care 

products, household and industrial cleaners and car washes. 

The same global research and development network that is the 

foundation of our transportation technology business provides us with 

fluid technologies for industry. By leveraging our knowledge and existing 

technologies, we can advance both businesses. As we pursue new 

industrial applications, we are combining organic growth from internally

developed technologies and carefully considered acquisitions that advance

our vision. Though you may rarely see Lubrizol’s fluid technologies for

industry, you can appreciate their presence in air conditioning on a hot day,

a safer sunscreen for you and your family and the vivid colors in this 

annual report.



DEFOAMERS:
Improving processing of 

snack foods and textiles. 

SURFACTANTS:
Improving the performance properties

of shampoos and conditioners.

Consider the changes we have seen in transportation and industry over

the past 75 years. Now imagine what the next five or 10 years will bring. At

Lubrizol, we envision an ongoing need for a steady stream of high-perform-

ance fluid technologies that will result in products that work better, last 

longer and benefit the environment. We plan to respond with the chemistry, 

systems and hardware that will meet those needs.

One of the key challenges of the 21st century will be to make the air we

breathe cleaner and safer. Emissions regulations will create a demand for

new technologies and offer the potential for sustained, long-term growth.

Many of Lubrizol’s products for transportation, metalworking, coatings and

inks already control or prevent harmful contaminants from entering the envi-

ronment. Building on this knowledge, we are developing a fluid contaminant

management business that encompasses prevention, control and remedia-

tion of contaminants resulting from transportation and industrial activities. 

In addition, we will continue to grow our business for the aftertreatment of

diesel exhaust. We have several devices certified for installation on existing

vehicles, including buses and fire trucks. These devices, used in combina-

tion with PuriNOx fuel technology, reduce emissions synergistically.

We are also responding to end users’ need to reduce the cost of 

managing fluids while extending an asset’s useful life. We are expanding our

scope beyond chemistry to include systems and sensors, devising a product

platform that uses proprietary software and telecommunications uplinks to

allow operators to monitor the performance of equipment in real time; this

technology will prevent or delay costly maintenance and repairs. We are 

also working on a controlled release product that replenishes a variety of

additives in the fluid over time — providing added equipment protection 

via the lubrication system. In 2003, we expect to have our first sales of

products in several areas of advanced fluid systems and contaminant 

management.   

Whatever the challenges ahead, we will be there with real products that

have a positive impact on people’s lives. Take a closer look, and you will find

us — making the world a better place.

TA K E A CL O S E R LO O K:

M o v i n g  
B e y o n d  C h e m i s t r y
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COATING PRODUCTS:
Improving the flow of coatings 

on metal surfaces.PURINOX FUEL:
Reducing NOx and particulate 

matter emissions. 

CATALYTIC MUFFLERS AND
PARTICULATE FILTER SYSTEMS:

Reducing particulate emissions.

LUBRICANT ADDITIVES:
Protecting and enhancing the 

performance of newer engines.

ADDITIVES FOR INKS:
Providing gloss and durability 

to printed materials.



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

THE LUBRIZOL CORPORATION
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The Lubrizol Corporation is a global fluid technology company

that develops, produces and sells high-performance chemi-

cals, systems and services for industry and transportation. We

create these products, including specialty additive packages

and related equipment, for use in transportation and industrial

lubricant and other markets. We do this by applying advanced

chemical and mechanical technologies to enhance the perfor-

mance, quality and value and reduce the environmental impact

of the customer products in which our products are used. 

We are a geographically diverse company operating manu-

facturing and blending facilities, laboratories and offices

around the world, through the efforts of approximately 5,200

employees. We group our product lines into three reportable

segments: fluid technologies for transportation, fluid technolo-

gies for industry and all other, which is comprised of the

advanced fluid systems and emulsified products operating

segments. Fluid technologies for transportation comprised

approximately 79% of our consolidated revenues and 84% 

of our segment contribution income in 2002. Note 13 to the

financial statements contains a further description of the nature

of our operations, the product lines within each of the operat-

ing segments, segment contribution income and related finan-

cial disclosures for the reportable segments. 

A variety of industry market forces and conditions continues 

to influence the transportation lubricant additives business. 

We believe the global growth rate for this business is approxi-

mately 1% per year. Additional characteristics of this market

are frequent product specification changes, consolidation of

the customer base, improved engine design and longer drain

intervals. We are the market leader in this extremely competi-

tive marketplace.

We intend to remain the market leader by continuing to invest

in our transportation lubricant additive business. In addition, we

are expanding beyond our traditional business by using our

strengths, including our technology and broad geographic

infrastructure, to develop and invest in new fluid technology

applications in the transportation markets and higher growth

industrial markets. Key factors to our growth continue to be

internal investment in research and development and prudent

acquisitions. 

In 2002, we completed strategic building block acquisitions in

our fluid technologies for industry operating segment for an

aggregate investment of $86.7 million in cash. The largest

acquisition was Chemron Corporation, a supplier of specialty

surfactants. Other acquisitions included Kabo Unlimited, Inc.

and Intermountain Specialties, Inc., also known as Brose

Chemical Company, both of which expanded our defoamer

business, and Dock Resins Corporation, which expanded our

product offering in our paints, coatings and inks business.

2002 RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
COMPARED WITH 2001

We achieved record consolidated revenues in 2002, primarily

due to higher shipment volume resulting from the consolidation

of Lubrizol India Private Limited and the favorable impact of

acquisitions. Higher gross profit margins were realized in 2002

compared with 2001, driven by lower average raw material

cost combined with lower unit manufacturing cost (manufac-

turing costs per metric ton sold) and ongoing volume growth.

The increased margin, elimination of goodwill amortization and

a lower effective tax rate, partially offset by higher STAR 

(selling, testing, administrative and research) expenses, result-

ed in increased net income in 2002 compared with 2001. 

Beginning January 1, 2002, we consolidated 100% of the 

revenues, costs, expenses, assets and liabilities of our joint

venture, Lubrizol India Private Limited, with an offset for our

partner’s minority interest. Before 2002, we recorded our own-

ership in the joint venture as equity earnings, which was includ-

ed in other income on the income statement. The change from

equity to consolidation accounting resulted from an amend-

ment to the joint venture agreement with our partner, Indian Oil

Corporation Limited, which gave us operating control of Lubri-

zol India. We continue to own 50 percent of the voting shares.

This change had no effect on our net income, but it did affect

the line item comparisons for the income statement, the bal-

ance sheet and the statement of cash flows.

In 2002, we achieved record consolidated revenues of $1.98

billion, which represented an increase of $139.2 million, or 8%,

compared with 2001. The increase was due to 12% higher

shipment volume, par-

tially offset by a 4%

decline in average sell-

ing price. The consoli-

dation of Lubrizol India

contributed 3% to the

higher volume, acquisi-

tions in our fluid tech-

nologies for industry segment added 5.5% to volume, and

increases in ongoing shipment levels provided the remaining

3.5% of the total shipment volume increase. Excluding acquisi-

tions and the consolidation of Lubrizol India, revenues

increased $33.8 million, or 2%, in 2002 compared with 2001. 
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98

0

99 00 01 02

400

800

1200

1600

$2000



THE LUBRIZOL CORPORATION
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Changes in our shipment volume vary by geographic area. The

following table shows our 2002 shipment volume by geo-

graphic zone as well as the corresponding changes compared

with 2001. 
Excluding 

Acquisitions
Total & LZ India

2002 Increase Increase
Volume (Decrease) (Decrease) 

North America 45% 20% 7%

Europe, Middle East 29% 6% 6%

Asia-Pacific 20% 9% (6%)

Latin America 6% (3%) (3%)

Total 100% 12% 3.5%

The increases in North America and Europe were due to acqui-

sitions and the strengthening of our business with major fluid

technologies for transportation customer accounts for engine

oils and specialty driveline additives, along with the strengthen-

ing of our fluid technologies for industry markets, including

coatings and inks and metalworking. Excluding these acquisi-

tions, North American shipment volume increased 7% in 2002.

Asia-Pacific volume, excluding the consolidation of Lubrizol

India, decreased 6% in 2002. The decline in ongoing Asian vol-

ume was primarily the result of business lost in Japan in mid-

2001 and the weak business environment and competitive

intensity in Asia. Latin America, our smallest zone, experienced

volume declines as the result of economic conditions, timing of

orders and some business losses after the first quarter of 2001

due to price increases.

Our average selling price decreased 4% in 2002 compared

with 2001, due to the combination of lower prices and product

mix changes. Beginning in 2002, we began combining the

impact of price and product mix, as frequent product changes

in our fluid technologies for transportation segment have made

it difficult to distinguish between the two components. Curren-

cy had a negligible effect on average selling price for the year.

Approximately half of the decline in average selling price is the

result of the Chemron acquisition made in April 2002, due to its

lower priced product mix. 

Royalties and other revenues decreased $1.8 million, or 34%,

in 2002 compared with the prior year. The decrease was pri-

marily due to the consolidation of Lubrizol India, effective Janu-

ary 1, 2002, as royalties from India are now eliminated when

reporting consolidated results. 

Our cost of sales increased $80.8 million, or 6% (decreased

$4.3 million, or less than 1%, excluding acquisitions and the

consolidation of Lubrizol India), in 2002 compared with 2001.

The increase was due to higher shipment levels and higher

manufacturing costs, partially offset by a decline in average

raw material cost. Average raw material cost decreased 6% in

2002 compared with 2001, due to both lower raw material

prices and product mix changes. 

Although average raw material cost decreased in 2002 com-

pared with 2001 on an annual basis, raw material prices start-

ed to increase in the second half of 2002. Sequentially in 2002,

average raw material cost increased 1% in the third quarter

compared with the second quarter, and 4% in the fourth quar-

ter compared with the third quarter, due to the combination of

higher raw material prices and higher cost product mix. There

were five price increases in base oil, our highest-volume raw

material, between the end of April 2002 and the middle of

October 2002, along with increases in other raw material

prices. We expect raw material prices to continue to trend

upward in early 2003, under pressure from the current geo-

political issues concerning Iraq and Venezuela and the effect of

the unusually cold winter in the United States, which have

caused crude oil and natural gas prices to increase well above

normal levels. The amount and timing of the impact of these

factors on raw material prices continue to be difficult to fore-

cast. Approximately half of our global sales are costed either

on a first-in-first-out (FIFO) basis or average cost basis, which

produces a lag before increasing raw material price changes

are reflected in our average raw material cost in the income

statement. To recover the rapidly rising raw material prices that

are affecting our business, we announced in the fourth quarter

of 2002 an additive price increase in our fluid technologies for

transportation segment to take effect between December 1,

2002, and the end of the first quarter of 2003.

Manufacturing costs, which are included in cost of sales,

increased 9% (2% excluding acquisitions and the consolidation

of Lubrizol India), in 2002 compared with 2001. The increase in

manufacturing costs was due to higher volume and higher

compensation costs, partially offset by lower utility expenses.

Even though total manufacturing costs were up, unit manufac-

turing cost was down 3% in 2002 compared with the prior

year, primarily due to higher throughput and productivity

improvements. 

Gross profit (net sales

less cost of sales) in-

creased $60.3 million,

or 12% ($37.4 million,

or 7%, excluding acqui-

sitions and the consoli-

dation of Lubrizol India),
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in 2002 compared with 2001. The increase was primarily the

result of higher volume and lower raw material costs, partially

offset by higher manufacturing costs and lower selling prices.

Our gross profit percentage (gross profit divided by net sales)

increased to 28.5% in 2002 compared with 27.4% in 2001,

due to the reasons explained previously. Excluding the impact

of the consolidation of Lubrizol India and acquisitions, our

gross profit percentage was 28.9% in 2002. 

Selling and administrative expenses increased $19.5 million, or

11% ($15.0 million, or 8%, excluding acquisitions and the con-

solidation of Lubrizol India), in 2002 compared with 2001. The

$15.0 million increase was primarily due to higher compensa-

tion costs, consisting of variable pay, salaries and employee

benefit costs for existing businesses, and incremental staffing

and other costs associated with our strategy to expand into

new markets. In addition, we recorded a $2.0 million charge for

a contract claim related to an employee offsite personal injury. 

Our research, testing and development expenses (technology

expenses) increased $9.8 million, or 6% ($8.9 million, or 6%,

excluding acquisitions and the consolidation of Lubrizol India),

in 2002 compared with 2001. Product standards change peri-

odically to meet new emissions, efficiency, durability and other

performance factors as

engine and transmission

designs are improved

by original equipment

manufacturers (OEMs).

These changes influ-

ence the timing and

amount of technology

expense. Technology

expenses were higher in 2002, primarily as a result of four

engine oil programs. The first program pertains to the upcom-

ing U.S. passenger car motor oil technical standard, GF-4,

which is slated for commercial introduction at the end of 2004.

The second program pertains to the European program for

reduced emission targets for both diesel and passenger car

applications (Euro IV). Commercial introduction was originally

anticipated for 2005, when Euro IV becomes mandatory. How-

ever, plans to offer road tax incentives in Europe have pushed

commercial introduction forward to mid-2003. This resulted in

increased technology and commercial product development

expense in the fourth quarter of 2002 that had not been antici-

pated. The third program pertains to the recent introduction of

new European passenger car standards, which significantly

increase performance requirements. The change in the base-

line performance required by OEMs for their specifications has

resulted in the redevelopment of several products and com-

mercial introduction is planned in 2003. The fourth program

pertains to the current U.S. diesel engine oil specification, 

PC-9, which was formally introduced in the third quarter of

2002. During 2002, approximately 78% of our technology cost

was incurred in company-owned facilities and 22% was

incurred at third-party testing facilities. 

The change in other income (expense) favorably affected pre-

tax income by $9.7 million in 2002 compared with 2001.

Beginning in 2002, this line item no longer includes amortiza-

tion of goodwill, due to a change in accounting standards, or

equity income from Lubrizol India. Goodwill amortization

expense was approximately $11.0 million in 2001. Equity

income for Lubrizol India was $2.9 million in 2001. The remain-

ing variance was primarily due to lower currency exchange

translation losses. 

Interest income was even in 2002 compared with 2001. Inter-

est expense decreased $1.6 million in 2002 compared with

2001, partially due to lower interest rates. In addition, we termi-

nated our interest rate swap agreements, which had converted

the fixed interest rate on $100 million of 5.875% debentures to

a variable rate. In terminating the swaps, we received cash of

$18.1 million and recorded a $17.3 million unrealized gain,

which is being amortized as a reduction of interest expense

through December 1, 2008, the due date of the underlying

debt. Amortization of the unrealized gain reduced interest

expense in 2002 by $1.1 million. In 2003, amortization of the

unrealized gain will reduce interest expense by $2.7 million.

We conduct a significant amount of our business outside the

United States (U.S.) and are subject to business risks inherent

in non-U.S. activities, including currency exchange rate fluctua-

tions. While changes in the dollar value of foreign currencies

will affect earnings from time to time, the longer-term economic

effect of these changes should not be significant given our net

asset exposure, currency mix and use of U.S. dollar-based

pricing in some countries. As the U.S. dollar strengthens or

weakens against other international currencies in which we

transact business, our financial results will be affected. During

2002, the U.S. dollar weakened against most currencies,

especially the euro and the yen, and we believe the change in

currency exchange rates had a slightly favorable effect on net

income as compared with the impact during 2001. 

As a result of the above factors, net income before income

taxes and before the cumulative effect of an accounting

change increased 29% to $180.4 million in 2002 compared

with $139.9 million in 2001. 

We had an effective tax rate of 30.0% in 2002, compared with

32.7% for 2001, which increased 2002 earnings by $.09 per

share. The lower effective tax rate in 2002 was primarily due to

the U.S. tax benefit resulting from a charitable contribution of

technology made in 2002 that did not occur in 2001, along

with the elimination of goodwill amortization pursuant to the

new accounting standard. We expect that our effective tax rate

for 2003 will be approximately 35%. 
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As a result of the factors described above, net income before

the cumulative effect of an accounting change increased $32.2

million, or 34%, in 2002 compared with 2001. Net income per

share before the cumulative effect of an accounting change

was $2.45 in 2002 compared with $1.84 in 2001.

In the second quarter of 2002, we completed the impairment

analysis required for Statement of Financial Accounting Stan-

dards (SFAS) 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,”

which we adopted effective January 1, 2002. Goodwill was

tested for impairment by comparing the fair value of each

operating segment to its carrying value as of January 1, 2002.

There was no impairment either in the fluid technologies for

transportation or the fluid technologies for industry operating

segments. However, for the advanced fluid systems operating

segment, which is included in the all other reporting segment,

we recorded a transitional impairment charge of $7.8 million

retroactive to January 1, 2002, thus eliminating all the goodwill

for the all other reporting segment. There was no tax benefit

associated with this charge.

After adjusting income for the cumulative effect of an account-

ing change, net income in 2002 increased $24.4 million, or

26%, compared with the prior year. Net income per share was

$2.30 in 2002 compared with $1.84 for 2001. 

2001 RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
COMPARED WITH 2000

In 2001, our results reflected the competitive conditions in our

industry and the economic uncertainty and weak business envi-

ronment within the global economy. Although we had record

shipment volume, 2001 earnings were lower than the prior

year due primarily to our inability to recover higher average raw

material cost. Higher operating expenses (manufacturing, sell-

ing and administrative, research, development and testing

expenses), a higher effective tax rate and a prior year gain from

a litigation settlement and special charge adjustments that did

not recur in 2001 also contributed to the lower earnings.

In 2001, our consolidated revenues were $1.84 billion, which

represented an increase of $68.9 million, or 4% (2% excluding

acquisitions), compared with 2000. The revenue increase was

due to a 4% increase in shipment volume, one-half of which

was due to acquisitions including the consolidation of our

China subsidiaries in the fourth quarter of 2000. Average sell-

ing price for 2001 remained flat with the prior year. This was

the result of a 3% increase in product selling prices due to the

price increases initiated during 2000 and offsetting unfavorable

currency effects and product mix changes. The $1.0 million

increase in royalties and other revenues was primarily due to

increased royalties for synthetic refrigeration lubricants. 

Changes in our shipment volume vary in different geographic

areas. The following table shows our 2001 shipment volume

by geographic zone as well as the corresponding changes

compared with 2000:
Total

2001 Increase
Volume (Decrease)

North America 42% 7%

Europe, Middle East 33% 5%

Asia-Pacific 18% 0%

Latin America 7% (3%)

Total 100% 4%

The increases in North America and Europe were primarily due

to the strengthening of our engine oil business with major fluid

technologies for transportation customer accounts. Asia-Pacif-

ic volume, excluding the consolidation of our China sub-

sidiaries in the fourth quarter of 2000, declined 9% for the year.

In Latin America, shipment volume was down due to order

patterns and the economic slowdown in the region.

Cost of sales for 2001 increased 4% (2% from acquisitions)

from 2000 due to increased shipment levels and higher raw

material costs. Average raw material cost in 2001 increased

2% over the prior year because of the higher cost of crude oil

and natural gas and the use of higher-cost raw materials to

meet the U.S. engine oil specification, GF-3, which was intro-

duced in 2000. Manufacturing costs, which are included in

cost of sales, increased by 1% in 2001 compared with 2000,

but decreased by 2% after excluding acquisitions. Unit manu-

facturing cost was down 3% compared with 2000. 

Gross profit (net sales less cost of sales) increased by $10.7

million, or 2% ($3.1 million, or less than 1%, excluding acquisi-

tions), in 2001 compared with 2000 primarily for the reasons

expressed above. The gross profit percentage (gross profit

divided by net sales) decreased to 27.4% for 2001 as com-

pared with 27.8% for 2000 due to the reasons previously

explained.

Selling and administrative expenses increased $9.4 million, or

6% ($6.7 million, or 4%, excluding acquisitions), in 2001 com-

pared with 2000. The non-acquisition increase was primarily

due to higher salary and employee benefit costs for existing

businesses and incremental staffing and other costs associat-

ed with our strategy to expand into new markets, partially off-

set by lower legal expenses and favorable currency effects.

Research, testing and development expenses (technology

expenses) increased $7.7 million, or 5% ($6.9 million, or 5%,

excluding acquisitions), in 2001 compared with 2000. The

increases during 2001 were due to high levels of testing, pri-

marily for GF-3, the U.S. passenger car motor oil technical

standard that was introduced in 2000, along with increased

development spending for growth programs and product
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development costs for the next diesel engine oil specification,

PC-9. During 2001, approximately 76% of our technology cost

was incurred in company-owned facilities and 24% was

incurred at third-party testing facilities.

Unusual items for the year 2000 consisted of $19.4 million 

for a favorable litigation settlement gain and $4.5 million for

favorable adjustments to previously taken special charges

related to the restructuring of the Painesville, Ohio, manufactur-

ing facility. (See the “COST REDUCTION PROGRAM AND

RELATED SPECIAL CHARGES” section.) On October 12,

2000, we reached a settlement of pending patent litigation with

Imperial Oil Limited (Imperial), a Canadian affiliate of Exxon

Mobil Corporation. Under the settlement agreement, Imperial

paid us $25.0 million in October 2000. After deducting related

expenses, the settlement increased pre-tax income in 2000 by

$19.4 million. There were no unusual items in 2001.

The change in other income (expense) had an unfavorable

effect of $1.0 million for 2001 as compared with 2000. Higher

currency exchange translation losses and increased goodwill

amortization expense were partially offset by higher equity

earnings from joint ventures and lower losses from the disposal

of assets. 

Net interest expense was approximately the same in 2001 and

2000. Interest income decreased $1.8 million in 2001 com-

pared with 2000 due to lower interest rates and lower levels of

cash investments during 2001. Interest expense also

decreased $1.8 million in 2001 compared with 2000, princi-

pally because of lower interest rates.

During 2001, the U.S. dollar strengthened against most other

currencies, especially the euro and the yen, and we believe 

the change in currency exchange rates had an unfavorable

effect on net income as compared with exchange rates in

effect during 2000. 

As a result of the factors previously discussed and after

excluding from 2000 the litigation settlement gain and adjust-

ments to special charges, 2001 income before taxes

decreased by $6.5 million, or 4%, compared with 2000.

Including the unusual items, income before income taxes

decreased by $30.4 million, or 18%, as compared with 2000. 

The effective tax rate on 2001 income was 32.7%, compared

with 29.6% on 2000 income, excluding the litigation settlement

gain and adjustments to special charges in 2000. The increase

in the effective tax rate, which decreased 2001 earnings before

these items by $.08 per share, was primarily due to the U.S.

tax benefit of a charitable contribution made in 2000, which did

not recur in 2001. The overall effective tax rate for 2000,

including the special charge adjustments and the litigation

gain, was 30.7%. 

Net income in 2001 was $94.1 million, or $1.84 per share. In

2000, net income was $118.0 million, or $2.22 per share. After

excluding from 2000 income the litigation settlement gain and

the adjustments to special charges, 2001 net income

decreased 9% compared with 2000 net income of $103.1 mil-

lion. On this same basis, 2001 net income per share

decreased 5% from the 2000 net income per share of $1.94. 

SEGMENT ANALYSIS

A description of the company’s operating segments along with

the products, services, and markets for each of the operating

segments is included in Note 13 to the financial statements.

Prior year amounts have been restated to reflect reclassifica-

tions of products among the reportable segments.

OPERATING RESULTS BY SEGMENT

(in Millions of Dollars)

2002 2001 2000

Revenues:

Fluid technologies 
for transportation $1,576.0 $1,520.8 $1,451.2

Fluid technologies 
for industry 382.5 300.2 296.9

All other 25.4 23.7 27.7

Total $1,983.9 $1,844.7 $1,775.8

Gross profit:

Fluid technologies 
for transportation $ 467.9 $ 427.8 $ 414.6

Fluid technologies 
for industry 126.4 105.5 110.7

All other 6.0 2.0 7.2

Total $ 600.3 $ 535.3 $ 532.5

Segment contribution 
income (loss): 

Fluid technologies 
for transportation $ 312.1 $ 283.4 $ 272.0

Fluid technologies 
for industry 70.2 46.5 56.3

All other (10.2) (18.2) (10.9)

Total $ 372.1 $ 311.7 $ 317.4

Fluid Technologies for Transportation Segment

In 2002, segment revenues increased $55.2 million, or 4%,

compared with 2001, with 6% higher shipment volume.

Excluding the impact of the consolidation of Lubrizol India, rev-

enues increased $6.5 million, or less than 1%, due to a 2.5%

increase in ongoing shipment volume, partially offset by a 2%

decrease in average selling price. The combination of lower

prices and product mix effects reduced average selling price

by 2.5%, but was partially offset by slightly favorable currency

effects, due to the weakening of the dollar against the euro and

the yen. 
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The following table shows the corresponding changes in 

shipment volume by geographic zone in 2002 compared 

with 2001: 

2002 vs. 2001 2002 vs. 2001 
Total Excluding LZ India

Increase/(Decrease) Increase/(Decrease)

North America 7% 7%

Europe, Middle East 5% 5%

Asia-Pacific 8% (7%)

Latin America (4%) (4%)

Total 6% 2.5%

The volume increases in North America and Europe were pri-

marily due to the strengthening of our engine oils business and,

to a lesser extent, our specialty driveline additives business. In

North America this increase was with major international

accounts, while in Europe it was across our customer base.

Including the consolidation of Lubrizol India, Asia-Pacific volume

increased 8%. Excluding Lubrizol India, Asia-Pacific volume

would have declined 7%, primarily as a result of lost engine 

oil business in Japan in mid-2001 and the weak business 

environment and competitive intensity in Asia. Latin America,

our smallest zone, experienced volume declines as the result

of economic conditions, timing of orders and some business

losses after the first quarter of 2001 due to price increases. 

In 2003, we anticipate that our shipment volume in this seg-

ment will be affected by the loss of a portion of our business

with a major international customer as a result of an oil industry

merger. However, we believe this company will continue to be

among our top 10 customers during 2003. 

Segment gross profit increased $40.1 million, or 9%, in 2002

compared with 2001. Excluding the impact of the consolida-

tion of Lubrizol India, gross profit increased by $26.6 million, or

6%. The increase was due to higher shipment volume and

lower average material cost, partially offset by increased manu-

facturing expenses and lower average selling price. In calculat-

ing gross profit at the operating segment level, we exclude our

estimate of the cost of excess capacity from product costs

(See Note 13 to the financial statements). The gross profit per-

centage for this segment was 29.7% in 2002 compared with

28.2% in 2001. 

Segment contribution income (revenues less expenses directly

identifiable to the product lines aggregated within each seg-

ment) increased $28.7 million, or 10%, in 2002 compared with

2001. The increase was primarily due to higher gross profit,

partially offset by higher direct technology and marketing

expenses. 

In 2001, segment revenues increased $69.6 million, or 5%,

compared with 2000, primarily due to increased total shipment

volume of 4%. Excluding the consolidation of our China sub-

sidiaries in the fourth quarter 2000, segment revenues

increased $54.8 million, or 4%, due to a 3% increase in ship-

ment volume due to market share gains. The combination of

price/mix resulted in a 3% increase that was offset by a 2%

decline in currency, primarily due to the strengthening of the

U.S. dollar against the euro and the yen.

The following table shows the corresponding changes in 

shipment volume by geographic zone in 2001 compared 

with 2000: 

2001 vs. 2000 2001 vs. 2000 
Total Excluding LZ China

Increase/(Decrease) Increase/(Decrease)

North America 7% 7%

Europe, Middle East 5% 5%

Asia-Pacific 0% (6%)

Latin America (5%) (5%)

Total 4% 3%

The 2001 volume increases over 2000 were primarily due to

business gains in our engine oil additives product group in

North America and strong shipments to many of our multina-

tional engine oil customers in Europe. Including the favorable

impact of the consolidation of our China subsidiaries during the

fourth quarter of 2000, Asia-Pacific volume was even with the

prior year. Excluding China, Asia-Pacific volume would have

declined 6% for the year, primarily due to the economic weak-

ness in the region and some lost engine oil additive business in

Japan. In Latin America, shipment volume was down due to

order patterns and the economic slowdown in the region.

Segment gross profit in 2001 increased $13.2 million, or 3%,

over 2000 due to higher shipment volume, partially offset by

higher average material cost and higher manufacturing expens-

es. Excluding the impact of acquisitions, gross profit increased

$10.3 million or 3%. The gross profit percentage for this seg-

ment was 28.2% in 2001 compared with 28.6% in 2000. 

Segment contribution income increased $11.4 million, or 4%,

in 2001 compared with 2000, due to higher gross profit and

equity earnings, partially offset by higher selling expenses. 

Fluid Technologies for Industry Segment

In 2002, segment revenues increased $82.2 million, or 27%,

compared with 2001, primarily due to a 58% increase in total

shipment volume. The Chemron and Kabo acquisitions con-

tributed $51.5 million toward the $56.7 million total increase in

revenues due to acquisitions. Segment revenues, excluding

acquisitions, increased $25.5 million, or 8%, primarily due to

9% ongoing volume growth as a result of strengthening mar-

kets compared with a year ago, partially offset by a slight

decrease in average selling price. 
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The following table shows the corresponding changes in 

shipment volume by geographic zone in 2002 compared 

with 2001: 

2002 vs. 2001 2002 vs. 2001 
Total Non-Acquisition

Increase/(Decrease) Increase/(Decrease)

North America 101% 9%

Europe, Middle East 6% 6%

Asia-Pacific 31% 24%

Latin America 4% 4%

Total 58% 9%

Including acquisitions, shipment volume in North America

increased 101%, primarily due to Chemron and Kabo. Exclud-

ing acquisitions, ongoing shipment volume increased 9% in

North America. The ongoing growth in North America and all 

of the increase in Europe were due to strengthening markets,

particularly in coatings and inks and metalworking, as well as

the introduction of new products and some business gains in

both these areas. The increase in the Asia-Pacific zone was

primarily due to new business gains across all of our business-

es, as this zone is a targeted area for growth in this segment. 

Segment gross profit increased $20.9 million, or 20%, in 2002

compared with 2001. Excluding acquisitions, gross profit

increased $11.5 million, or 11%. The increases were primarily

due to higher shipment volume and lower average material

cost. The gross profit percentage for this segment was 33.2%

in 2002, compared with 35.4% in 2001. The decrease in the

gross profit percentage was primarily due to the impact of the

Chemron acquisition, due to its lower-priced product mix. 

Segment contribution income increased $23.7 million, or 51%,

in 2002 compared with 2001. The increase was due to higher

gross profit and the accounting change for goodwill amortiza-

tion. The elimination of goodwill amortization, effective January

1, 2002, benefited this segment by approximately $6.1 million

in 2002. 

In 2001, segment revenues increased $3.3 million, or 1%,

compared with 2000. Excluding the 2001 acquisition for ROSS

Chem Inc., revenues decreased by $15.4 million, or 5%, due

to 4% lower shipment volume and lower average selling price,

slightly offset by an increase in royalties for synthetic refrigera-

tion lubricants. Average selling price declined approximately

1% in 2001 compared with 2000, due to unfavorable currency

that was partially offset by a slight increase in the combination

of selling price and product mix. 

The following table shows the corresponding changes in 

shipment volume by geographic zone in 2001 compared 

with 2000: 

2001 vs. 2000 2001 vs. 2000 
Total Non-Acquisition 

Increase/(Decrease) Increase/(Decrease)

North America 1% (12%)

Europe, Middle East 2% 2%

Asia-Pacific 7% 7%

Latin America 20% 20%

Total 3% (4%)

Including the 2001 acquisition, shipment volume was 3% 

higher in 2001 compared with 2000. Excluding the acquisi-

tion, total volume declined 4% as lower volumes in North

America more than offset higher volumes in Latin America.

North America volume declined due to the impact of the weak

manufacturing sector, which primarily impacted metalworking

and process chemicals. Latin America volume increased pri-

marily due to business expansion of our existing customers

into this region in our emulsion explosives business.

Segment gross profit in 2001 decreased $5.2 million, or 5%,

compared with 2000. Excluding the impact of an acquisition,

gross profit decreased $9.9 million, or 9%, primarily because

the weak manufacturing sector in North America adversely

affected our industrial additives and performance chemicals

product groups. The gross profit percentage for this segment

was 35.4% in 2001 compared with 37.3% in 2000. 

Segment contribution income decreased by $9.8 million, or

17%, in 2001 compared with 2000, due to lower gross profit

and higher direct selling and technical expenses. 

COST REDUCTION PROGRAM AND 
RELATED SPECIAL CHARGES

In 2000, we completed the cost reduction program, which

involved the downsizing of our Painesville, Ohio, manufacturing

facility. We achieved approximately $19 million of savings in

2001 from this program. (See also Note 16 to the financial

statements.) This program, which began in the third quarter of

1999, resulted in the reduction of approximately 5% of our

2000 workforce, or 187 employees, and the shutdown of 20 of

Painesville’s 36 production systems. The Painesville plant con-

tinues to operate as a producer of small-volume specialized

intermediates and as a blender of certain additive packages.

We initially recorded a special charge of $20.8 million in the

third quarter of 1999 relating to the Painesville downsizing. In

the second quarter of 2000, we recorded a pre-tax adjustment

of $2.6 million ($1.7 million after-tax or $.03 per share) to reduce

the amount of the special charge. The cost of workforce

reductions at Painesville was less than originally anticipated

because of an increase in the planned number of employees to
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be retained due to the assumption of additional production as

a result of the acquisition in 2000 of certain production assets

and working capital of Alox Corporation, the retention of a

waste incineration process and higher than expected through-

put. We also eliminated a number of positions without sever-

ance pay cost through the transfer of employees to other facili-

ties outside of Painesville. In the fourth quarter of 2000, we

recorded a pre-tax adjustment of $1.9 million ($1.2 million

after-tax or $.02 per share) to reduce further the amount of the

special charge due to lower than anticipated equipment dis-

mantling costs ($1.5 million) and lower workforce reduction

costs ($.4 million) because additional employees transferred to

other Lubrizol locations. As adjusted, employee severance

costs were $5.5 million of the charge and other exit costs were

$10.8 million, including $7.4 million related to asset impairment

for component production units taken out of service. We spent

approximately $1.8 million and $.9 million in 2001 and 2000,

respectively, related to this program. Additionally, we spent

approximately $6.8 million of capital to transfer a portion of the

Painesville capacity to our Texas facilities. 

RETURN ON AVERAGE SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Return on average shareholders’ equity was 14% in 2002,

12% in 2001 and 15% in 2000 (15%, 12% and 13%, respec-

tively, excluding the

cumulative effect of the

change in accounting

principle in 2002 and

the litigation gains and

special charges and

credits in 2000). The

return on average share-

holders’ equity is calculated as current year net income divided

by the average of year-end shareholders’ equity for the current

and prior year.

WORKING CAPITAL, LIQUIDITY AND 
CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our cash flows for the years 2000 through 2002 are presented

in the consolidated statements of cash flows. Cash provided

from operating activities of $244.8 million in 2002, increased

$49.0 million, or 25%, compared with 2001. The increase 

was primarily due to higher earnings as well as a favorable

change in working capital items of $13.9 million in 2002 com-

pared with an unfavorable change of $8.5 million in working

capital items in 2001.

The favorable change in

working capital items in

2002 was due to strong

receivable management

and the timing of pay-

ment of current liabili-

ties, partially offset by

higher inventory levels. 

Our capital expenditures in 2002 were $65.3 million compared

with $66.3 million in 2001. We authorized projects totaling

$97.2 million in 2002 and $87.8 million in 2001. Capital expen-

ditures were lower than authorized amounts due to timing of

projects. In 2003, we estimate capital expenditures will approx-

imate our annual depreciation expense and be in the range of

$90 million to $95 million. 

In 2002, we completed several acquisitions in the fluid tech-

nologies for industry segment for cash of $86.7 million. In the

first quarter, we purchased Kabo, which specializes in the

development, manufacture and sale of antifoam and defoam-

ing agents to the food, fermentation, mining and wastewater

industries. Kabo’s product lines expand our defoamer busi-

ness. In the second quarter, we purchased Chemron, which

formulates, produces and supplies specialty surfactants used

in personal care products, industrial cleaners and a wide range

of other consumer and industrial products. The acquisition

extends our existing surfactants business into growth markets

where we had not previously competed. In October, we

acquired Dock Resins, which develops, manufactures and

sells proprietary polymers including acrylic, methacrylic, alkyd,

and polyester resins to customers in the paint and coatings,

printing ink, laminating, adhesives and sealants, and grease

markets. In October, we also acquired Brose, which has 

product lines that complement our integrated defoamer busi-

ness that are now manufactured in our Kabo foam control

facility. Annualized 2002 revenues from these acquisitions in

the aggregate are approximately $85 million. 

In 2001, we spent $14.7 million on an acquisition to purchase

ROSS Chem, Inc., a manufacturer and supplier of antifoam

and defoaming agents, with annual sales of $10 million, which

expanded our product lines in metalworking and paints, 

coatings and inks. We spent $35.7 million on two acquisitions

in 2000 in which we purchased certain production assets and

working capital of Alox Corporation, a supplier of additives 

for corrosion prevention in metalworking products, and

acquired an additional 10% interest in our India joint venture,

increasing our ownership interest to 50%. We also made a

$5.0 million investment in 2000 in a joint venture with GE

Transportation Systems. 

In 2001, we dissolved our joint venture with GE Transporta-

tion Systems and replaced the joint venture with separate

cross-licensing agreements. We entered into a technical ser-

vices agreement to license our FluiPakTM technology (i.e., fluid

management technology for use in monitoring fluids in

machines and services) for railroad applications to GE Trans-

portation Systems. 
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Our net debt to capitalization ratio at December 31, 2002, was

16% compared with 23% at December 31, 2001, due to

strong net operating cash flow in 2002. Net debt is the total of

short- and long-term debt, reduced by cash and short-term

investments in excess

of an assumed operat-

ing cash level of $40

million and excluding

unrealized gains and

losses on derivative

instruments designated

as fair value hedges of

fixed rate debt. Capital-

ization is shareholders’ equity plus net debt. Debt as a percent

of capitalization, without adjusting for cash and derivative

instruments, was 32% at December 31, 2002 compared with

34% at December 31, 2001.

On July 24, 2002, we terminated our interest rate swap 

agreements, which had converted the fixed interest rate on

$100 million of 5.875% debentures to a variable rate. In termi-

nating the swaps, we received cash of $18.1 million. The 

carrying value of the unrealized gain at December 31, 2002 is

$16.2 million and is included as an increase in long-term debt

(see Note 5 to the financial statements).

We suspended our share repurchase program in the second

quarter of 2001 in order to hold our financial resources for acqui-

sitions. During the first half of 2001, we repurchased approxi-

mately 1.0 million common shares for $30.0 million. In 2000,

we repurchased 3.2 million shares for $76.0 million.

Our financial position remains strong with a ratio of current

assets to current liabilities of 3.0 to 1.0 at December 31, 2002,

compared with 2.9 to 1.0 at December 31, 2001. Effective July

16, 2002, we renewed $175 million of committed revolving

credit facilities, which mature July 15, 2003. On October 31,

2002, we terminated $50 million of committed credit facilities

that would have matured on June 30, 2003. We also have

$350 million of other existing credit facilities that mature on July

17, 2006. As a result, we have total available committed credit

facilities of $525 million, which allow us to borrow at or below

the U.S. prime rate. There were no borrowings under these

credit facilities at December 31, 2002.

The following table shows our contractual cash obligations (in

millions of dollars) under debt agreements, leases and con-

tracts at December 31, 2002. Additional information on debt

and operating leases can be found in Notes 5 and 12 to the

financial statements.

Payments Due by Period

Less 
Contractual cash Than 1 1-3 4-5 After 5 
obligations Total Year Years Years Years

Debt  . . . . . . . . . . . . $401.9 $17.0 $50.0 $334.9 

Operating leases  . . . 42.0 12.6 $14.5 6.3 8.6

Natural gas 
purchase contracts  . 3.4 3.4

Service contracts  . . 2.3 1.6 .5 .2

Total contractual 
cash obligations  . . . $449.6 $34.6 $15.0 $56.5 $343.5

In addition, we have contingent obligations aggregating $11.9

million under standby letters of credit issued in the ordinary

course of business to financial institutions, customers and

insurance companies to secure short-term support for a variety

of commercial transactions and insurance and benefit pro-

grams. These standby letters of credit expire in 2003.

We believe that our existing credit facilities, internally generated

funds and ability to obtain additional financing, if desired, will

be sufficient to meet our future capital and growth needs,

including acquisitions to expand into new and existing fluid

technology markets. If we were to incur significant additional

indebtedness (for example, to make a large acquisition) that

caused a change in our current long-term debt ratings, we

would expect to be able to continue to meet our liquidity needs

but at some increased cost for interest and commitment fees

under our credit facilities. We do not believe any such

increased costs would have a material impact upon our results

of operations or financial condition. 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The determination and application of our accounting policies is

an important process that has developed as our business

activities have evolved and as the accounting rules have devel-

oped. Accounting rules generally do not allow a selection

among alternatives, but involve an implementation and inter-

pretation of existing rules and the use of judgment to the spe-

cific set of circumstances existing in our business. We believe

the proper implementation and consistent application of the

accounting pronouncements are critical. However, not all situa-

tions are specifically addressed in the accounting rules, and we

use our best judgment to adopt a policy for accounting for

those situations not addressed. We accomplish this by analyz-

ing similar situations and the accounting guidance governing

them, and often consult with independent accountants about

the appropriate interpretation and application of these policies. 

Accounting policies for which our subjective judgment is par-

ticularly important include estimating valuation reserves, deter-

mining the net periodic pension cost and postretirement bene-

fit cost and accounting for business combinations and goodwill

impairment. To the extent actual experience differs from our

assumptions and estimates, we may have to increase or

decrease these reserves and earnings could be affected.
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Accounting for Reserves

Our accounting policies for reserves cover a wide variety of

business activities, including reserves for potentially uncol-

lectible receivables, slow moving or obsolete inventory, legal

and environmental exposures, and tax exposures. We accrue

these reserves when our assessments indicate that it is proba-

ble that a liability has been incurred or an asset will not be

recovered and an amount can be reasonably estimated. We

review these estimates quarterly based on currently available

information. Actual results may differ from our estimates and

our estimates may be revised, upward or downward, depend-

ing upon the outcome or changed expectations based on the

facts surrounding each exposure. We discuss annually with the

audit committee of our Board of Directors our reserves, as well

as our policies and processes for evaluating them.

Determination of Net Periodic Pension Cost

Each year we review with our actuaries the actuarial assump-

tions used in the determination of U.S. net periodic pension

cost, as prescribed by SFAS 87, “Employers Accounting for

Pensions.” The determination of net periodic pension cost is

based upon a number of actuarial assumptions, including the

expected return on plan assets, the discount rate for determin-

ing the funded status, and the rate of compensation increase.

Our international pension plan assumptions are also reviewed

annually by country with the applicable plan actuary and

appropriately adjusted. Additionally, the assumptions for the

U.S. pension plan are reviewed with the investment committee

of our Board of Directors. Our net periodic pension cost for all

pension plans was $8.4 million in 2002, $6.2 million in 2001

and $1.2 million in 2000. In 2002, our U.S. pension expense

represented approximately 60% of the consolidated total pen-

sion expense.

Our assumption for the expected return on plan assets is based

upon our long-term experience and return targets for specific

investment classes. During 2002, we maintained our assump-

tion for the U.S. plan of 9% because this assumption focuses

on longer-term return expectations and, we believe, is there-

fore less susceptible to shorter-term fluctuations. In addition,

we did not substantially change our investment philosophy or

investment mix of the asset portfolio in the U.S. pension plan. 

The selection of a discount rate for pension plans is required to

determine future pension obligations and represents the avail-

able cost in the market place of settling all pension obligations

through annuity purchases. We determine the discount rate 

at September 30 and consideration is given to then current

market indicators, including rates of return on AA-rated corpo-

rate bonds or on long-term U.S. Treasury obligations. We

reduced the 2002 discount rate assumption for our U.S. 

pension plan from 7.375% to 6.75%. 

Lowering the expected long-term rate of return on our U.S.

plan by 100 basis points would increase U.S. pension expense

by approximately $2.0 million. Lowering the discount rate by

100 basis points would increase U.S. pension expense by

approximately $1.6 million. 

The value of our U.S. plan assets decreased in 2002 and the

value of the assets approximates the pension liability at the end

of the year. The investment returns and declining discount

rates have reduced the funded level of our U.S. qualified plan.

Changes in U.S. pension plan assumptions are expected to

increase U.S. pension expense in 2003 by approximately $2.7

million, which will not have a significant impact on our financial

condition or results of operations. The increase in U.S. pension

expense is due to the decline in the discount rate, the removal

of approximately $.8 million of unrecognized gain amortization

in 2003, market returns and other factors. 

Determination of Postretirement Benefit Cost

Annually we review with our actuaries the key economic

assumptions used in calculating postretirement benefit cost 

as prescribed by SFAS 106, “Employers’ Accounting for

Postretirement Benefits Other than Pensions.” Postretirement

benefits include health care and life insurance plans. The deter-

mination of postretirement benefit cost is based upon a number

of actuarial assumptions, including the discount rate for deter-

mining the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation, the

assumed health care cost trend rates and ultimate health care

trend rate. The same discount rate selected for the pension

plan is generally used for calculating the postretirement benefit

obligation. Our net non-pension postretirement benefit cost

was $4.7 million in 2002, $3.9 million in 2001 and $3.5 million

in 2000. U.S. non-pension postretirement benefit cost in 2002

approximated 82% of the total non-pension postretirement

benefit cost. Lowering the discount rate by 100 basis points

would increase U.S. postretirement cost by approximately $1.2

million. Lowering the assumed health care cost trend rate by

100 basis points would decrease consolidated postretirement

benefit cost by approximately $1.8 million and raising the rate

by 100 basis points would increase consolidated postretire-

ment benefit cost by approximately $1.3 million.

Accounting for Business Combinations

During the past three years, we have completed several busi-

ness combination transactions. In the future, we anticipate

growing our business through additional acquisitions. We

accounted for our past combinations using the purchase

method of accounting, which is now the only method allowed

under SFAS 141, “Business Combinations.” The accounting

for business combinations is complicated and involves the use

of significant judgment. Under the purchase method of

accounting, a business combination is accounted for at a pur-

chase price based upon the fair value of the consideration

given, whether it is in the form of cash, assets, stock or the



assumption of liabilities. The assets and liabilities acquired are

measured at their fair values and the purchase price is allo-

cated to the assets and liabilities based upon these fair values.

Generally, the acquisition price exceeds the fair value of the

tangible assets acquired and the various intangible assets also

acquired must be valued. Determining the fair values of the

assets and liabilities acquired involves the use of judgment,

since some of the assets and liabilities acquired do not have

fair values that are readily determinable. Different techniques

may be used to determine fair values, including market prices,

where available, appraisals, comparisons to transactions for

similar assets and liabilities, and present value of estimated

future cash flows. Since these estimates involve the use of 

significant judgment, they can change as new information

becomes available. During 2002, we used an outside appraiser

for our largest acquisition, Chemron, to assist in the allocation

of the purchase price to intangible assets and goodwill. The

appraiser used the income approach to value the intangibles,

in which the value is developed on the basis of capitalization of

net earnings that would be generated for a specific stream of

income attributed to an asset or group of assets. The value of

the intangibles identified by the appraiser for the Chemron

acquisition was $15.7 million and goodwill was estimated to be

$20.1 million. Amortization of the Chemron intangible assets

will result in annual amortization expense of $1.4 million. 

Accounting for Goodwill Impairment

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board

(FASB) issued SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible

Assets,” which became effective for us on January 1, 2002.

Under SFAS 142, there is no goodwill amortization for busi-

ness combinations that occurred after June 30, 2001 and

amortization of goodwill on pre-June 30, 2001 acquisitions

ceased effective January 1, 2002. We expect acquisitions to

play an important role in our future growth strategy and

accordingly expect SFAS 142 to be important to the presenta-

tion of our financial condition and results of operations. SFAS

142 requires goodwill to be tested annually and between annu-

al tests if events occur or circumstances change that would

more likely than not reduce the fair value of an operating seg-

ment below its carrying amount. We have elected October 1

as the annual evaluation date to test for potential goodwill

impairment. The annual goodwill impairment test will require us

to make a number of assumptions and estimates concerning

future levels of earnings and cash flow, which are based upon

our strategic plans. A discounted cash flow model is used to

determine the fair value of each operating segment. The

integrity of the model was reviewed by an outside 

independent appraiser during 2002 and found to be appropri-

ate. Our initial goodwill impairment test was completed in the

second quarter of 2002 and resulted in a $7.8 million goodwill

impairment charge that was recorded as the cumulative effect

of an accounting change. No additional impairment of goodwill

was identified in the fourth quarter of 2002 (See Note 4 to the

financial statements). 

New Accounting Pronouncements

The impact of new accounting pronouncements is reviewed

and discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements. 

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT FOR “SAFE HARBOR”
PURPOSES UNDER THE PRIVATE SECURITIES 
LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 1995

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Con-

dition and Results of Operations and the letter “To Our Share-

holders” from W. G. Bares, Chairman and Chief Executive 

Officer of Lubrizol, contain forward-looking statements within

the meaning of the federal securities laws. As a general matter,

forward-looking statements are those focused upon future

plans, objectives or performance as opposed to historical

items and include statements of anticipated events or trends

and expectations and beliefs relating to matters not historical in

nature. Forward-looking statements are subject to uncertain-

ties and factors relating to our operations and business envi-

ronment, all of which are difficult to predict and many of which

are beyond our control. These uncertainties and factors could

cause our actual results to differ materially from those matters

expressed in or implied by any forward-looking statements.

We believe that the following factors, among others, could

affect our future performance and cause our actual results to

differ materially from those expressed or implied by forward-

looking statements made in this annual report:

• the overall demand for lubricant and fuel additives on a

worldwide basis, which has a slow growth rate in mature

markets such as North America and Europe;

• the effect on our business resulting from economic and politi-

cal uncertainty within the Asia-Pacific, Middle East and Latin

American regions;

• the lubricant additive demand in developing regions such as

China and India, which geographic areas are an announced

focus of our activities;

• the potential negative impact on product pricing and volume

demand from the consolidation of finished lubricant marketers;

• the degree of competition resulting from lubricant additive

industry overcapacity;

• technology developments that affect longer-term trends for

lubricant additives, such as improved equipment design, fuel

economy, longer oil drain intervals, alternative fuel powered

engines and emission system compatibility;

• the overall global economic environment, which affects the

operating results of fluid technologies for industry in particular;

• the extent to which we are successful in expanding our 

business in new and existing fluid technology markets incor-

porating chemicals, systems and services for industry and

transportation;
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• our ability to identify, complete and integrate acquisitions for

profitable growth; 

• our success at continuing to develop proprietary technology

to meet or exceed new industry performance standards and

individual customer and original equipment manufacturers’

expectations;

• the frequency of change in industry performance standards,

which affects the level and timing of our technology costs,

the product life cycles and the relative quantity of additives

required for new specifications;

• our ability to continue to reduce complexities and conversion

costs and modify our cost structure to maintain and enhance

our competitiveness;

• our success in strengthening relationships and growing busi-

ness with our largest customers, including those with affiliat-

ed lubricant additive companies, and retaining the business

of our largest customers over extended time periods;

• the cost, availability and quality of raw materials, including

petroleum-based products;

• the cost and availability of energy, including natural gas and

electricity;

• the effects of fluctuations in currency exchange rates upon

our reported results from international operations, together

with non-currency risks of investing in and conducting signifi-

cant operations in foreign countries, including those relating

to political, social, economic and regulatory factors;

• the extent to which we achieve market acceptance of our

PuriNOx™ low-emission, water-blend fuel product;

• significant changes in government regulations affecting envi-

ronmental compliance.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES
ABOUT MARKET RISK

We operate manufacturing and blending facilities, laboratories

and offices around the world and utilize fixed and variable rate

debt to finance our global operations. As a result, we are sub-

ject to business risks inherent in non-U.S. activities, including

political and economic uncertainty, import and export limita-

tions and market risk related to changes in interest rates and

foreign currency exchange rates. We believe the political and

economic risks related to our foreign operations are mitigated

due to the stability of the countries in which our largest foreign

operations are located. 

In the normal course of business, we use derivative financial

instruments including interest rate swaps and forward foreign

currency exchange contracts to manage our market risks.

Additional information regarding our financial instruments is

contained in Notes 5 and 6 to the financial statements. Our

objective in managing our exposure to changes in interest

rates is to limit the impact of such changes on our earnings

and cash flow and to lower our overall borrowing cost. Our

objective in managing the exposure to changes in foreign cur-

rency exchange rates is to reduce volatility on our earnings and

cash flow associated with such changes. Our principal curren-

cy exposures are in the major European currencies, the Japan-

ese yen, and certain Latin American currencies. We do not

hold derivatives for trading purposes. 

We measure our market risk related to our holdings of financial

instruments based on changes in interest rates and foreign cur-

rency rates utilizing a sensitivity analysis. The sensitivity analysis

measures the potential loss in fair value, cash flow and earnings

based on a hypothetical 10% change (increase and decrease)

in interest and currency exchange rates. We use current mar-

ket rates on our debt and derivative portfolios to perform the

sensitivity analysis. Certain items such as lease contracts,

insurance contracts and obligations for pension and other

postretirement benefits are not included in the analysis.

Our primary interest rate exposures relate to our cash and

short-term investments, fixed and variable rate debt and inter-

est rate swaps. The calculation of potential loss in fair value is

based on an immediate change in the net present values of

our interest rate-sensitive exposures resulting from a 10%

change in interest rates. The potential loss in cash flow and

income before tax is based on the change in the net interest

income/expense over a one-year period due to an immediate

10% change in rates. A hypothetical 10% increase in interest

rates would have had a favorable impact and a hypothetical

10% decrease in interest rates would have had an unfavorable

impact on fair values of $13.3 million, cash flows of $.2 million

and income before tax of $.2 million in 2002, and $20.2 million,

$1.0 million and $1.0 million in 2001, respectively.

Our primary currency rate exposures are to foreign denominat-

ed debt, intercompany debt, cash and short-term investments

and forward foreign currency exchange contracts. The calcula-

tion of potential loss in fair value is based on an immediate

change in the U.S. dollar equivalent balances of our currency

exposures due to a 10% shift in exchange rates. The potential

loss in cash flow and income before tax is based on the

change in cash flow and income before tax over a one-year

period resulting from an immediate 10% change in currency

exchange rates. A hypothetical 10% increase in currency

exchange rates would have had an unfavorable impact and a

hypothetical 10% decrease in currency exchange rates would

have had a favorable impact on fair values of $13.3 million,

cash flows of $19.5 million and income before tax of $4.2 mil-

lion in 2002, and $7.4 million, $13.3 million and $3.7 million in

2001, respectively.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS AND BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS OF THE LUBRIZOL CORPORATION

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance

sheets of The Lubrizol Corporation and its subsidiaries as of

December 31, 2002 and 2001 and the related consolidated

statements of income, shareholders' equity, and cash flows for

each of the three years in the period ended December 31,

2002. These financial statements are the responsibility of the

Corporation’s management. Our responsibility is to express an

opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing stan-

dards generally accepted in the United States of America.

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial state-

ments are free of material misstatement. An audit includes

examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts

and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also

includes assessing the accounting principles used and 

significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluat-

ing the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that

our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present

fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of The Lubri-

zol Corporation and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2002 and

2001, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for

each of the three years in the period ended December 31,

2002 in conformity with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Notes 2 and 4 to the consolidated financial

statements, in 2002 the Corporation changed its method of

accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets to conform

to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142.

Cleveland, Ohio

February 4, 2003
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QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

Three Months Ended

March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31

(IN THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

2002
Net sales  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $466,713 $507,505 $509,427 $496,644 

Gross profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 135,503 145,735 150,577 132,219

Income before cumulative effect of change 
in accounting principle  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29,817 34,487 36,478 25,490

Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22,032 34,487 36,478 25,490

Income per share before cumulative effect 
of change in accounting principle  . . . . . . . . . . . . . $0.58 $0.67 $0.71 $0.49 

Income per share before cumulative effect of 
change in accounting principle, diluted  . . . . . . . . . $0.58 $0.66 $0.71 $0.49 

Net income per share  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $0.43 $0.67 $0.71 $0.49 

Net income per share, diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $0.43 $0.66 $0.71 $0.49 

2001
Net sales  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $453,791 $485,928 $461,109 $438,416 

Gross profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 119,109 135,926 128,222 120,526

Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18,506 32,015 22,797 20,798

Net income per share  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $0.36 $0.63 $0.45 $0.41 

Net income per share, diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $0.36 $0.62 $0.44 $0.40 

In the first quarter of 2002, the company recorded an after-tax $7.8 million ($.15 per share) goodwill impairment charge as a cumulative
effect of a change in accounting principle.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
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Year Ended December 31

(IN THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA) 2002 2001 2000

Net sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,980,289 $1,839,244 $1,771,317 

Royalties and other revenues  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,578 5,400 4,463 

Total revenues  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,983,867 1,844,644 1,775,780 

Cost of sales  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,416,255 1,335,461 1,278,187 

Selling and administrative expenses. . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 196,940 177,431 167,999 

Research, testing and development expenses  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 168,303 158,473 150,805 

Total cost and expenses  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,781,498 1,671,365 1,596,991 

Special (charges) credits  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,484 

Gain from litigation settlement  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19,395 

Other expense – net  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,380) (15,076) (14,062)

Interest income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,697 6,787 8,611 

Interest expense  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (23,298) (25,041) (26,869)

Income before income taxes and cumulative effect of change
in accounting principle . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 180,388 139,949 170,348 

Provision for income taxes  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 54,116 45,833 52,339 

Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle  . . 126,272 94,116 118,009 

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle  . . . . . . . . . . . . . (7,785)

Net income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 118,487 $ 94,116 $ 118,009 

Net income per share: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Income before cumulative effect of change in 
accounting principle . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2.45 $1.84 $2.22 

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle . . . . . . . . . . (0.15)

Net income per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2.30 $1.84 $2.22 

Diluted net income per share:  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Income before cumulative effect of change in 
accounting principle . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2.44 $1.83 $2.22 

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle . . . . . . . . . . (0.15)

Net income per share, diluted  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2.29 $1.83 $2.22 

Dividends per share  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1.04 $1.04 $1.04 

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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December 31

(IN THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS) 2002 2001

ASSETS

Cash and short-term investments  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 266,428 $ 189,095 

Receivables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 295,508 279,013 

Inventories . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 302,968 254,610 

Other current assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 44,875 34,006 

Total current assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 909,779 756,724 

Property and equipment – at cost  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,809,071 1,648,096 

Less accumulated depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,129,916 1,003,815 

Property and equipment – net  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 679,155 644,281 

Goodwill  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 168,352 139,273 

Intangible assets – net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 43,162 27,285 

Investments in non-consolidated companies . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,690 30,915 

Other assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 52,999 63,841 

TOTAL . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,860,137 $1,662,319 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Short-term debt and current portion of long-term debt  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 17,046 $ 9,120 

Accounts payable  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 140,424 129,833 

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 150,271 120,261 

Total current liabilities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 307,741 259,214 

Long-term debt  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 384,845 388,111 

Postretirement health care obligations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 96,495 97,878 

Noncurrent liabilities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 92,655 55,140 

Deferred income taxes  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 55,761 56,207 

Total liabilities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 937,497 856,550 

Minority interest in consolidated companies  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 53,388 32,577 

Contingencies and commitments

Preferred stock without par value – unissued

Common shares without par value – outstanding 51,457,642 shares in 2002 
and 51,152,107 shares in 2001 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 118,985 109,692 

Retained earnings  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 828,318 763,312 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (78,051) (99,812)

Total shareholders’ equity  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 869,252 773,192 

TOTAL  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,860,137 $1,662,319 

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Year Ended December 31

(IN THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS) 2002 2001 2000

CASH PROVIDED FROM (USED FOR):

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $118,487 $ 94,116 $118,009 

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided 
by operating activities:  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Depreciation and amortization  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 95,831 98,832 100,834 

Deferred income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,158 (2,392) 7,799 

Special charges (credits)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,484)

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle . . . . . . . . . . 7,785 

Change in current assets and liabilities net of acquisitions:

Receivables  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28,984 2,217 542 

Inventories  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (10,152) 866 (6,124)

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and 
other current liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,566 (8,399) 2,981 

Other current assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (7,475) (3,171) 582 

13,923 (8,487) (2,019)

Change in noncurrent liabilities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,636 4,740 1,250 

Other items – net  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,048 9,029 4,775 

Total operating activities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 244,868 195,838 226,164 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Capital expenditures  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (65,285) (66,316) (85,757)

Acquisitions and investments in nonconsolidated companies  . . . . . (86,671) (14,989) (41,476)

Other – net  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,420 (340) 1,997 

Total investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (148,536) (81,645) (125,236)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Short-term borrowing (repayment)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,399) (4,579) 4,099 

Long-term borrowing  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18,428 

Long-term repayment  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,308) (3,120) (29,015)

Debt issuance costs  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (351)

Dividends paid  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (53,430) (53,218) (55,370)

Proceeds from termination of interest rate swaps  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18,134 

Common shares purchased  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (30,039) (75,957)

Common shares issued upon exercise of stock options  . . . . . . . . . . 8,569 22,294 1,310 

Total financing activities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (30,434) (68,662) (136,856)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11,435 (2,373) (3,600)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and short-term investments . . . . . . . 77,333 43,158 (39,528)

Cash and short-term investments at the beginning of year  . . . . . . . . 189,095 145,937 185,465 

Cash and short-term investments at the end of year  . . . . . . . . . . . . . $266,428 $189,095 $145,937 

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Shareholders’ Equity

Number of Accumulated Other
Shares Common Retained Comprehensive

(IN THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS) Outstanding Shares Earnings Income (Loss) Total

BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 1999  . . . . . . . . . . . . 54,477,292 $ 85,984 $758,090 $(53,950) $790,124 

Comprehensive income:

Net income 2000  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 118,009 118,009 

Other comprehensive loss  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (26,676) (26,676)

Comprehensive income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 91,333 

Cash dividends  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (54,529) (54,529)

Common shares – treasury:

Shares purchased  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,232,096) (5,166) (70,791) (75,957)

Shares issued upon exercise of stock options . . 62,492 1,310 1,310 

BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2000  . . . . . . . . . . . . 51,307,688 82,128 750,779 (80,626) 752,281 

Comprehensive income:

Net income 2001  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 94,116 94,116 

Other comprehensive loss  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (19,186) (19,186)

Comprehensive income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 74,930 

Cash dividends  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (53,206) (53,206)

Deferred stock compensation  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,474 5,474 

Common shares – treasury:

Shares purchased  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (967,610) (1,662) (28,377) (30,039)

Shares issued upon exercise of stock options . . 812,029 23,752 23,752 

BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2001  . . . . . . . . . . . . 51,152,107 109,692 763,312 (99,812) 773,192 

Comprehensive income:

Net income 2002  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 118,487 118,487 

Other comprehensive income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21,761 21,761 

Comprehensive income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 140,248 

Cash dividends  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (53,481) (53,481)

Deferred stock compensation  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 507  507 

Common shares – treasury:

Shares issued upon exercise of 
stock options and awards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 305,535  8,786 8,786  

BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2002  . . . . . . . . . . . . 51,457,642 $118,985 $828,318 $ (78,051) $869,252 

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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NOTE 1 — NATURE OF OPERATIONS

The Lubrizol Corporation is a global fluid technology company
that develops, produces and sells high-performance chemicals,
systems and services for industry and transportation. The com-
pany creates these products, including specialty additive pack-
ages and related equipment, for use in transportation and indus-
trial lubricant and other markets. The company does this by
applying advanced chemical and mechanical technologies to
enhance the performance, quality and value and reduce the 
environmental impact of the customer products in which our
products are used. The company groups its product lines into
three reportable segments: fluid technologies for transportation,
fluid technologies for industry and all other, which is comprised of
the advanced fluid systems and emulsified products operating
segments. Fluid technologies for transportation comprise approx-
imately 79% of the company’s consolidated revenues and 84% of
the company’s segment contribution income. Refer to Note 13
for a further description of the nature of the company’s opera-
tions, the product lines within each of the operating segments,
segment contribution income and related financial disclosures for
the reportable segments. 

NOTE 2 — ACCOUNTING POLICIES

CONSOLIDATION — The consolidated financial statements
include the accounts of The Lubrizol Corporation and its sub-
sidiaries where ownership is 50% or greater and the company
has effective management control. For nonconsolidated compa-
nies (affiliates), the equity method of accounting is used when
ownership exceeds 20% and when the company has the ability
to exercise significant influence over the policies of the investee.
The book value of investments carried at equity was $5.9 million
and $30.0 million at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
Investments carried at cost were $.8 million and $.9 million at
December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001, respectively. 

CONSOLIDATION OF VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES — In Jan-
uary 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. (FIN) 46, Consoli-
dation of Variable Interest Entities.” FIN 46 provides guidance on
how to identify a variable interest entity (VIE) and determine when
the assets, liabilities, noncontrolling interests, and results of oper-
ations of a VIE need to be included in a company’s consolidated
financial statements. FIN 46 also requires additional disclosures
by primary beneficiaries and other significant variable interest
holders. The provisions of this interpretation became effective
upon issuance. The company believes the adoption of this inter-
pretation will not have a material impact on its consolidated finan-
cial position or results of operations. 

ESTIMATES — The preparation of consolidated financial state-
ments in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America requires management to make
estimates and assumptions pending completion of related
events. These estimates and assumptions affect the amounts

reported at the date of the consolidated financial statements for
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of
contingencies. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

CASH EQUIVALENTS — The company invests its excess cash in
short-term investments with various banks and financial institu-
tions. Short-term investments are cash equivalents, as they are
part of the cash management activities of the company and are
comprised of investments having maturities of three months or
fewer when purchased. 

INVENTORIES — Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or
market value. Cost of inventories is determined by either first-in,
first-out (FIFO) method or moving average method, except in the
United States of America for chemical inventories, which are 
primarily valued using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method. 

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT — Property and equipment are
carried at cost. Repair and maintenance costs are charged
against income while renewals and betterments are capitalized as
additions to the related assets. Costs incurred for computer soft-
ware developed or obtained for internal use are capitalized for
application development activities and immediately expensed for
preliminary project activities or post-implementation activities.
Accelerated depreciation methods are used in computing depre-
ciation on certain machinery and equipment, which comprise
approximately 12% and 16% in 2002 and 2001, respectively, of
the depreciable assets. The remaining assets are depreciated
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives are 10
to 40 years for buildings and land and building improvements and
range from 3 to 20 years for machinery and equipment. 

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS — In June 2001, the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets,” which became effective for the com-
pany on January 1, 2002. Intangibles resulting from business
acquisitions, including purchased technology, land use rights,
non-compete agreements, distributor networks, trademarks and
patents, are amortized on a straight-line method over periods
ranging from 5 to 40 years. Under SFAS 142, goodwill and other
intangibles determined to have indefinite lives are no longer amor-
tized, but are tested for impairment at least annually. The com-
pany has elected to perform its annual tests for potential goodwill
impairment and indefinite life intangibles as of October 1st of
each year (see Note 4). The company had goodwill amortization
expense of approximately $11.0 million and $10.2 million in 2001
and 2000, respectively. 

In June 2001, FASB issued SFAS 141, “Business Combinations,”
which prohibits the pooling-of-interests method for business
combinations completed after June 30, 2001, and includes 
criteria for recognition of intangible assets separate from goodwill. 
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RESEARCH, TESTING AND DEVELOPMENT — Research, 
testing and development costs are expensed as incurred.
Research and development expenses, excluding testing, were
$93.5 million in 2002, $87.6 million in 2001 and $86.4 million 
in 2000. 

ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITIES — The company accrues for
expenses associated with environmental remediation obligations
when such expenses are probable and reasonably estimable.
These accruals are adjusted as further information develops 
or circumstances change. Costs of future expenditures for envi-
ronmental remediation obligations are not discounted to their
present value. The company’s environmental reserves totaled
$9.9 million and $9.5 million at December 31, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. Of these amounts, $1.1 million and $.5 million was
included in other current liabilities at December 31, 2002 and
2001, respectively. 

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION — The assets and liabili-
ties of the company’s international subsidiaries are translated into
U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date,
and revenues and expenses are translated at weighted-average
exchange rates in effect during the period. Unrealized translation
adjustments are recorded as a component of other comprehen-
sive income in shareholders’ equity, except for subsidiaries for
which the functional currency is the U.S. dollar, where translation
adjustments are realized in income. Transaction gains or losses
that arise from exchange rate changes on transactions denomi-
nated in a currency other than the functional currency, except
those transactions that function as a hedge of an identifiable 
foreign currency commitment or as a hedge of a foreign currency
investment, are included in income as incurred. 

SHARE REPURCHASES — The company uses the par value
method of accounting for its treasury shares. Under this method,
the cost to reacquire shares in excess of paid-in capital related to
those shares is charged against retained earnings.

REVENUE RECOGNITION — Revenues are recognized at the
time of shipment of products to customers, or at the time of
transfer of title if later, with appropriate provision for uncollectible
accounts. All amounts in a sales transaction billed to a customer
related to shipping and handling are reported as revenues. 

PER SHARE AMOUNTS — Net income per share is computed
by dividing net income by average common shares outstanding
during the period, including contingently issuable shares. Net
income per diluted share includes the dilution effect resulting from
outstanding stock options and stock awards. Per share amounts
are computed as follows: 

2002 2001 2000

Numerator:

Income before 
cumulative effect 
of change in 
accounting principle . . $126,272 $ 94,116 $118,009

Cumulative effect 
of change in  
accounting principle . . (7,785)

Net income  . . . . . . . . . . $118,487 $ 94,116 $118,009

Denominator:

Weighted-average 
common shares 
outstanding  . . . . . . . . 51,514 51,209 53,116

Dilutive effect of stock 
options and awards  . . 280 285 104

Denominator for 
net income per 
share, diluted  . . . . . . . 51,794 51,494 53,220

Net income per share:

Income before 
cumulative effect 
of change in 
accounting principle . . $ 2.45 $ 1.84 $ 2.22

Net income per share . . . $ 2.30 $ 1.84 $ 2.22

Diluted net income
per share:

Income before 
cumulative effect 
of change in 
accounting principle . . $ 2.44 $ 1.83 $ 2.22

Net income per 
share, diluted  . . . . . . . $ 2.29 $ 1.83 $ 2.22

Weighted-average shares issuable upon the exercise of stock
options which were excluded from the diluted earnings per share
calculations because they were antidilutive were 2.4 million in
2002, 1.8 million in 2001, and 3.8 million in 2000. 

ACCOUNTING FOR DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS — Derivative
financial instruments are recognized on the balance sheet as
either assets or liabilities and are measured at fair value. Deriva-
tives that are not hedges are adjusted to fair value through
income. Depending upon the nature of the hedge, changes in fair
value of the derivative are either offset against the change in fair
value of assets, liabilities or firm commitments through earnings
or recognized in other comprehensive income until the hedged
item is recognized in earnings. The ineffective portion of a deriva-
tive’s change in value is immediately recognized in earnings. The
company uses derivative financial instruments only to manage
well-defined interest rate and foreign currency risks. The com-
pany does not use derivatives for trading purposes. 
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ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS — In June 2001, the FASB
issued SFAS 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,”
which becomes effective for the company on January 1, 2003.
This statement requires entities to record the fair value of a liability
for an asset retirement obligation in the period in which it is
incurred. The amount recorded as a liability is capitalized by
increasing the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset.
Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability is accreted to the
ultimate amount anticipated to be paid and is also adjusted for
revisions to the timing or amount of estimated cash flows. The
capitalized cost is depreciated over the useful life of the related
asset. Upon settlement of the liability, an entity either settles the
obligation for its recorded amount or incurs a gain or loss upon
settlement. The company believes the adoption of this statement
will not have a material impact on its consolidated financial posi-
tion or results of operations. 

IMPAIRMENT OR DISPOSAL OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS — In
August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” which became
effective for the company on January 1, 2002. This statement
further refines the rules for accounting for long-lived assets and
measuring impairment. The adoption of this statement did not
have a material impact on the company’s consolidated financial
position or results of operations. 

COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH EXIT OR DISPOSAL ACTIVITIES —
In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS 146, “Accounting for Costs
Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities,” which becomes effec-
tive for the company for exit or disposal activities initiated after
December 31, 2002. This statement requires that a liability for a
cost associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized
and measured initially at fair value when the liability is incurred
and is effective for exit or disposal activities initiated after Decem-
ber 31, 2002. Previously the liability was recognized at the date of
an entity’s commitment to an exit plan. 

GUARANTEES — In December 2002, the FASB issued FIN 45,
“Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guar-
antees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others.”
FIN 45 requires the disclosure of any guarantees as of December
31, 2002 and the recognition of a liability for any guarantees
entered into or modified after that date.  

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION — In December 2002, the
FASB issued SFAS 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compen-
sation – Transition and Disclosure, an amendment to FASB State-
ment No. 123.” SFAS 148 requires the disclosure in the summary
of significant accounting policies of the effects of an entity’s
accounting policy with respect to stock-based employee com-
pensation on reported net income and earnings per share. The
company has elected the intrinsic value method to account for
employee stock options. The following table shows the pro forma
effect on net income and earnings per share if the company had
applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” to stock-based
employee compensation. 

2002 2001 2000

Reported net income  . . . . . $118,487 $ 94,116 $118,009

PLUS: Stock-based 
employee compensation 
(net of tax) included in 
net income . . . . . . . . . . . 123 47 85

LESS: Stock-based 
employee compensation 
(net of tax) using the fair 
value method  . . . . . . . . . (6,106) (6,033) (3,638)

Pro forma net income . . . . . $112,504 $ 88,130 $114,456

Reported net income 
per share  . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2.30 $ 1.84 $ 2.22 

Pro forma net income 
per share  . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2.18 $ 1.72 $ 2.15 

Reported net income 
per share, diluted  . . . . . . $ 2.29 $ 1.83 $ 2.22 

Pro forma net income 
per share, diluted . . . . $ 2.17 $ 1.71 $ 2.15 

RECLASSIFICATIONS — Certain prior period amounts have been
reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. 

NOTE 3 — INVENTORIES

2002 2001 

Finished products  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $148,478 $124,503

Products in process  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 58,643 48,859

Raw materials  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 76,779 64,504

Supplies and engine test parts  . . . . . . 19,068 16,744

Total Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $302,968 $254,610

Inventories on the LIFO method were 23% and 27% of consoli-
dated inventories at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
The current replacement cost of these inventories exceeded the
LIFO cost at December 31, 2002 and 2001, by $50.3 million and
$49.7 million, respectively. 

NOTE 4 — GOODWILL & INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Effective January 1, 2002, the company adopted SFAS 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” Under SFAS 142, good-
will and other intangibles determined to have indefinite lives are
no longer amortized but are tested for impairment upon adoption
and at least annually thereafter. 

In connection with adopting SFAS 142, the company also
reassessed the useful lives and the classification of its intangible
assets. The major components of the identifiable intangible
assets are technology, land use rights, non-compete agreements,
distributor networks, trademarks and patents. Excluding the non-
amortized trademarks, which are indefinite and are not amortized,
the intangible assets will continue to be amortized over the lives
of the agreements or other periods of value, which range
between 5 and 40 years. The following table shows the compo-
nents of identifiable intangible assets as of December 31, 2002
and 2001: 
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2002 2001

Gross Accumu- Gross Accumu-
Carrying lated Carrying lated
Amount Amortization Amount Amortization

Amortized 
intangible assets:

Technology  . . . . . . $31,504 $15,540 $30,095 $12,973 

Land use rights . . . 6,990 379 6,990 202 

Non-compete 
agreements  . . . 6,125 1,472 711 682

Distributors 
networks  . . . . . 3,136 110 

Trademarks . . . . . . 2,211 757 2,211 378 

Other  . . . . . . . . . . 5,583 504 1,784 287 

Total amortized 
intangible assets 55,549 18,762 41,791 14,522 

Non-amortized 
trademarks  . . . . . . 6,380 5 21 5 

Total  . . . . . . . . . . . . . $61,929 $18,767 $41,812 $14,527 

Amortization expense for intangible assets was $4.2 million in
2002, $3.1 million in 2001 and $2.6 million in 2000. Excluding the
impact of further acquisitions, estimated annual intangible amorti-
zation expense for each of the next four years should approxi-
mate $4.6 million per year. 

SFAS 142 provides for a six-month period from the date of
adoption for the company to perform an assessment of potential
impairment of goodwill. Any impairment identified upon adoption
is recognized as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting
principle effective as of January 1, 2002. Goodwill is tested for
impairment at the reporting unit level. The company has deter-
mined the reporting units will be the same as its four operating
segments, since the component businesses have similar 
economic characteristics and can thus be combined under the
aggregation rules. The company determined the carrying value of
each operating segment by assigning the company’s assets and
liabilities to them, including existing goodwill, as of January 1,
2002. The company then determined the implied fair value of
each operating segment by using a combination of discounted
cash flow analysis and terminal value calculations. The fair value
of each operating segment was compared to its carrying value to
determine if there was an indication of impairment. This evalua-
tion indicated that goodwill recorded in the advanced fluid 
systems operating segment was impaired as of January 1, 2002.
The economic conditions at the time of impairment testing,
including declining revenues, reduced the estimated future
expected performance of this operating segment, which includes
the small equipment businesses the company acquired in fluid
metering and particulate traps. Accordingly, the company recog-
nized a transitional impairment charge of $7.8 million retroactive
to January 1, 2002 in the all other reporting segment, which
includes advanced fluid systems. This is a non-cash charge and
was recorded as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting
principle on the Consolidated Statement of Income in 2002.
There was no tax benefit associated with this charge. 

SFAS 142 also requires goodwill to be tested annually, and
between annual tests, if events occur or circumstances change
that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting

segment below its carrying amount. The company has elected to
perform its annual tests for potential goodwill impairment as of
October 1st of each year. No additional impairment of goodwill
was identified in the fourth quarter of 2002. Subsequent impair-
ment losses, if any, will be reflected in income from continuing
operations. The carrying amount of goodwill by reporting seg-
ment is as follows:

Fluid Tech- Fluid Tech-
nologies nologies 
for Trans- for 
portation Industry All Other Total 

Balance, 
December 31, 2001 $42,755 $ 88,850 $ 7,668 $139,273 

Goodwill 
acquired  . . . . 32,484 32,484 

Transitional 
impairment 
charge . . . . . . (7,785) (7,785)

Translation 
& other 
adjustments . . 2,132 2,131 117 4,380 

Balance, 
December 31, 2002 $44,887 $123,465 $ — $168,352 

In accordance with SFAS 142, the company discontinued the
amortization of goodwill and certain trademarks effective January
1, 2002. The following table reconciles the company’s net income
and earnings per share for 2002, 2001 and 2000. The pro forma
results for 2001 and 2000 have been adjusted to exclude good-
will amortization expense. Current period results include an
adjustment for the cumulative effect of a change in accounting
principle for the transitional impairment loss under SFAS 142 and
are presented for comparative purposes.

2002 2001 2000 

Reported net income  . . . . . $118,487 $ 94,116 $118,009 

Add: Goodwill & trademark 
amortization, net of tax . . 7,697 7,189 

Cumulative effect 
of a change in 
accounting principle . . 7,785 

Pro forma net income . . . . . $126,272 $101,813 $125,198 

Reported net income 
per share  . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2.30 $ 1.84 $ 2.22 

Add: Goodwill & trademark 
amortization, net of tax . . 0.15 0.14 

Cumulative effect 
of a change in
accounting principle . . 0.15 

Pro forma net income 
per share  . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2.45 $ 1.99 $ 2.36

Reported net income 
per share, diluted  . . . . . . $ 2.29 $ 1.83 $ 2.22 

Add: Goodwill & trademark 
amortization, net of tax . . 0.15 0.14 

Cumulative effect 
of a change in
accounting principle . . 0.15 

Pro forma net income 
per share, diluted  . . . . . . $ 2.44 $ 1.98 $ 2.36 
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NOTE 5 — SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM DEBT

2002 2001 

Long-term debt consists of:

5.875% notes, due 2008, including 
remaining unrealized gain on 
termination of swaps of $16,162 
in 2002, and fair value adjustment 
of $11,851 for unrealized gain on 
derivative hedge instruments 
in 2001  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $216,162 $211,851 

7.25% debentures, due 2025  . . . . . . . 100,000 100,000 

Debt supported by long-term 
banking arrangements:

Commercial paper at weighted 
average rates of 1.4% and 2.1% 50,000 50,000 

Marine terminal refunding revenue 
bonds, at 1.7% and 1.7%, 
due 2018  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18,375 18,375 

Term loans:

Yen denominated, at 2.4%
in 2002 and 1.6% to 2.8% 
in 2001, due 2003  . . . . . . . . . . . 8,403 8,728 

Euro denominated, at 3.5% to 
5.0%, due 2003 – 2010  . . . . . . . 366 372 

Other, at a weighted-average rate 
of 5.6%, due 2003 – 2004  . . . . . 182 

393,488 389,326 

Less current portion  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,643 1,215 

$384,845 $388,111 

Short-term debt consists of:

Other short-term debt at weighted 
average rates of 5% and 1.1%  . . . . $ 8,403 $ 7,905 

Current portion of long-term debt  . . . . 8,643 1,215 

$ 17,046 $ 9,120 

In May 2000, the company borrowed $18,375,000 through the
issuance of marine terminal refunding revenue bonds, the pro-
ceeds of which were used to repay previously issued marine ter-
minal refunding revenue bonds. The bonds have a stated maturity
of July 1, 2018, and bear interest at a variable rate which is deter-
mined weekly by the remarketing agent (the interest rate at
December 31, 2002, was 1.7%). The bonds may be put to the
company by the bond holders at each weekly interest reset date;
however, the company expects that these bonds would then be
remarketed. 

In November 1998, the company issued notes having an aggre-
gate principal amount of $200 million. The notes are unsecured,
senior obligations of the company that mature on December 1,
2008, and bear interest at 5.875% per annum, payable semi-
annually on June 1 and December 1 of each year. The notes
have no sinking fund requirement but are redeemable, in whole or
in part, at the option of the company. The company incurred debt
issuance costs aggregating $10.5 million, including a loss of $6.5
million related to closed Treasury rate lock agreements originally
entered into as a hedge against changes in interest rates relative

to the anticipated issuance of these notes. Debt issuance costs
are deferred and then amortized as a component of interest
expense over the term of the notes. Including debt issuance
costs and the remaining unrealized gain on termination of interest
rate swaps (see Note 6), these notes have an effective annualized
interest rate of 5.0% to the company. 

The company has debentures outstanding in an aggregate princi-
pal amount of $100 million. These debentures are unsecured,
senior obligations of the company that mature on June 15, 2025,
and bear interest at an annualized rate of 7.25% payable semi-
annually on June 15 and December 15 of each year. The deben-
tures are not redeemable prior to maturity and are not subject to
any sinking fund requirements.

The company has committed revolving credit facilities of $525
million; $175 million expires on July 15, 2003; and $350 million
on July 17, 2006. These facilities, which were unused at Decem-
ber 31, 2002, permit the company to borrow at or below the U.S.
prime rate. One of these facilities also permits the company to
refinance beyond one year $350 million of debt, which by its
terms is due within one year. As a result, the company classified
as long-term, at each balance sheet date, the portion of commer-
cial paper borrowings expected to remain outstanding throughout
the following year and the amount due under the marine terminal
refunding revenue bonds, whose bondholders have the right to
put the bonds back to the company. 

Amounts due on long-term debt are $8.6 million in 2003, $50.0
million in 2006 and $334.9 million thereafter.

The company has interest rate swap agreements, which expire in
March 2005, that exchange variable rate interest obligations on a
notional principal amount of $50 million for a fixed rate of 7.6%
(see Note 6).

Interest paid, net of amounts capitalized, amounted to $23.8 
million, $23.3 million and $26.9 million during 2002, 2001 and
2000, respectively. The company capitalizes interest on qualify-
ing capital projects. The amount of interest capitalized during
2002, 2001 and 2000 amounted to zero, $.2 million and $.2 mil-
lion, respectively.

NOTE 6 — FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The company has various financial instruments, including cash
and short-term investments, investments in nonconsolidated
companies, foreign currency forward contracts, interest rate
swaps and short- and long-term debt. The company has deter-
mined the estimated fair value of these financial instruments by
using available market information and generally accepted valua-
tion methodologies. The use of different market assumptions or
estimation methodologies could have a material effect on the
estimated fair value amounts. The estimated fair value of the
company’s debt instruments at December 31, 2002 and 2001
approximated $441.0 million and $391.6 million, compared with
the carrying value of $401.9 million and $397.2 million, respec-
tively. The company uses derivative financial instruments only 
to manage well-defined foreign currency and interest rate risks.
The company does not use derivative financial instruments for
trading purposes.
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Effective January 1, 2001, the company adopted SFAS 133,
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as
amended. SFAS 133 requires the company to recognize all deriv-
atives on the balance sheet at fair value and establishes criteria
for designation and effectiveness of hedging relationships. Deriva-
tives that are not hedges must be adjusted to fair value through
income. Depending upon the nature of the hedge, changes in fair
value of the derivative are either offset against the change in fair
value of assets, liabilities or firm commitments through earnings
or recognized in other comprehensive income until the hedged
item is recognized in earnings. The ineffective portion of a deriva-
tive’s change in value is immediately recognized in earnings. The
adoption of SFAS 133 did not have a material cumulative effect
on net income as of January 1, 2001, but did result in a $2 million
reduction ($1.3 million net of tax) of other comprehensive income. 

The company is exposed to the effect of changes in foreign 
currency rates on its earnings and cash flow as a result of doing
business internationally. In addition to working capital manage-
ment, pricing and sourcing, the company selectively uses 
foreign currency forward contracts to lessen the potential effect of
currency changes. These contracts relate to transactions with
maturities of less than one year. The maximum amount of foreign
currency forward contracts outstanding at any one time was
$14.8 million in 2002, $17.9 million in 2001 and $24.3 million in
2000. At December 31, 2002, the company had short-term for-
ward contracts to sell currencies at various dates during 2003 for
$3.1 million. At December 31, 2001, the company had short-
term forward contracts to sell currencies at various dates during
2002 for $4.9 million. These forward contracts are not designated
as hedges. Any changes in the fair value of these contracts are
recorded in other income. The fair value of these instruments at
December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the related adjustment
recorded in other income was an unrealized loss of $.1 million
and $.2 million, respectively.

The company is exposed to market risk from changes in interest
rates. The company’s policy is to manage interest expense using
a mix of fixed and variable rate debt. To manage this mix in a
cost-efficient manner, the company may enter into interest rate
swaps in which the company agrees to exchange, at specified
intervals, the difference between fixed and variable interest
amounts calculated by reference to an agreed-upon notional
principal amount. Interest payments receivable and payable
under the terms of the interest rate swap agreements are
accrued over the period to which the payment relates and the net
difference is treated as an adjustment of interest expense related
to the underlying liability.

On July 24, 2002, the company terminated its interest rate swap
agreements expiring December, 2008, which converted fixed rate
interest on $100 million of 5.875% debentures (see Note 5) to a
variable rate. At December 31, 2001, the fair value of these
swaps was an unrealized gain of $11.9 million. These swaps
were designated as fair value hedges of underlying fixed rate debt
obligations and were recorded as an increase in noncurrent
assets and long-term debt. These interest rate swaps qualified for

the short-cut method for assessing hedge effectiveness under
SFAS 133. Changes in fair value of the interest rate swaps were
offset by the change in fair value of the underlying debt. As a
result, there was no impact to earnings in 2002 or 2001 due to
hedge ineffectiveness. Gains and losses on terminations of inter-
est rate swap agreements designated as fair value hedges are
deferred as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the out-
standing obligation and amortized as an adjustment to interest
expense related to the obligation over the remaining term of the
original contract life of the terminated swap agreement. In the
event of an early extinguishment of the outstanding obligation,
any unamortized gain or loss from the swaps would be recog-
nized in the consolidated statement of income at the time of such
extinguishment. In terminating the swaps, the company received
cash of $18.1 million, and recorded a $17.3 million unrealized
gain, net of accrued interest, as an increase in the underlying
long-term debt. The unrealized gain will be amortized as a reduc-
tion of interest expense through December 1, 2008, the due date
of the underlying debt. The carrying value of the unrealized gain
at December 31, 2002 is $16.2 million.

At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the company had interest rate
swap agreements to convert existing variable rate debt to fixed
rates. The fair values of these swaps at December 31, 2002 and
2001 was an unrealized loss of $6.0 million and $4.8 million,
respectively. These swaps are designated as cash flow hedges of
underlying variable rate debt obligations and are recorded as a
noncurrent liability. The adjustments to record the net changes in
fair value during 2002 of $1.2 million ($.8 million net of tax) and
2001 of $3.7 million ($2.4 million net of tax) unrealized loss were
recorded in other comprehensive income. This includes the tran-
sition adjustment of $2.0 million ($1.3 million net of tax) as of Jan-
uary 1, 2001. Ineffectiveness was determined to be immaterial in
2002 and 2001. The company does not expect any significant
portion of these existing losses to be reclassified into earnings
within the next 12 months.

NOTE 7 — OTHER BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION

2002 2001 

Receivables:

Customers  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $267,085 $242,408

Affiliates . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,804 6,664

Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24,619 29,941

$295,508 $279,013

Receivables are net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $4.4
million in 2002 and $5.3 million in 2001. 

2002 2001 

Property and equipment – at cost:

Land and improvements  . . . . . . . . . . . $ 113,698 $ 105,795

Buildings and improvements  . . . . . . . . 343,241 303,924

Machinery and equipment . . . . . . . . . . 1,311,060 1,190,710

Construction in progress  . . . . . . . . . . . 41,072 47,667

$1,809,071 $1,648,096
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Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment were
$91.6 million in 2002, $84.7 million in 2001 and $88.0 million 
in 2000.

2002 2001 

Accrued expenses and 
other current liabilities:

Employee compensation . . . . . . . . . . . $ 61,334 $ 41,728

Income taxes  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32,496 28,885

Taxes other than income  . . . . . . . . . . . 16,606 19,502

Special charges and acquisition 
assimilation costs. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 150

Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 39,835 29,996

$150,271 $120,261

Dividends payable at the end of 2002 and 2001 was $13.4 mil-
lion and $13.3 million, respectively, and is included in accounts
payable. 

2002 2001 

Noncurrent liabilities: 

Pensions  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 49,444 $ 14,889

Employee benefits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25,223 21,918

Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17,988 18,333

$ 92,655 $ 55,140

NOTE 8 — SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

The company has 147 million authorized shares consisting of 2
million shares of serial preferred stock, 25 million shares of serial
preference shares and 120 million common shares, each of
which is without par value. Common shares outstanding exclude
common shares held in treasury of 34,738,252 and 35,043,787
at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

The company has a shareholder rights plan under which one right
to buy one-half common share has been distributed for each
common share held. The rights may become exercisable under
certain circumstances involving actual or potential acquisitions of
20% or more of the common shares by a person or affiliated per-

sons who acquire stock without complying with the requirements
of the company’s articles of incorporation. The rights would entitle
shareholders, other than this person or affiliated persons, to pur-
chase common shares of the company or of certain acquiring
persons at 50% of then current market value. At the option of the
directors, the rights may be exchanged for common shares, and
may be redeemed in cash, securities or other consideration. The
rights will expire in 2007 unless redeemed earlier.

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) shown in the
consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity at December 31,
2002, 2001, and 2000 is comprised of the following:

Foreign Accumulated
Currency Unrealized Pension Plan Other

Translation Losses on Interest Minimum Comprehensive
Adjustment Rate Swaps Liability Loss 

December 31, 1999  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(53,405) $ (545) $(53,950)

Other comprehensive income:

Pre-tax  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (26,543) (738) (27,281)

Tax benefit  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 300 305 605

Total  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (26,243) (433) (26,676)

December 31, 2000  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (79,648) (978) (80,626)

Other comprehensive income:

Pre-tax cumulative effect of accounting change – SFAS 133  . . . . . $ (2,021) (2,021)

Pre-tax  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (17,022) (1,715) (538) (19,275)

Tax benefit  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 528 1,308 274 2,110

Total  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (16,494) (2,428) (264) (19,186)

December 31, 2001  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (96,142) (2,428) (1,242) (99,812)

Other comprehensive income:

Pre-tax  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 44,179 (1,181) (29,331) 13,667

Tax benefit  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,236) 413 8,917 8,094

Total  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 42,943 (768) (20,414) 21,761

December 31, 2002  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(53,199) $ (3,196) $(21,656) $(78,051)
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NOTE 9 — OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE) – NET

2002 2001 2000 

Equity earnings of non-
consolidated companies $ 986 $ 2,196 $ 1,483

Amortization of goodwill 
and intangible assets  . . . (4,206) (14,118) (12,847)

Currency exchange/
transaction loss  . . . . . . . (427) (3,041) (1,528)

Other – net  . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,733) (113) (1,170)

$ (5,380) $(15,076) $(14,062)

NOTE 10 — INCOME TAXES

The provision for income taxes is based upon income before tax
for financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of tem-
porary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying values for financial reporting purposes. In esti-
mating future tax consequences, the company considers antici-
pated future events, except changes in tax laws or rates, which
are recognized when enacted.

Income before income taxes consists of the following:

2002 2001 2000 

United States  . . . . . . . . . . . $ 95,482 $ 79,576 $ 94,016 

Foreign  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 84,906 60,373 76,332 

Total  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $180,388 $139,949 $170,348 

The provision for income taxes consists of the following: 

2002 2001 2000 

Current:

United States  . . . . . . . . . . . $14,791 $25,891 $14,679

Foreign  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 36,167 22,334 29,861

50,958 48,225 44,540

Deferred:

United States  . . . . . . . . . . . 1,208 (4,992) 6,613

Foreign  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,950 2,600 1,186

3,158 (2,392) 7,799

Total  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $54,116 $45,833 $52,339

The United States tax provision includes the U.S. tax on foreign
income distributed to the company. The provision for taxes out-
side the United States includes withholding taxes.

The differences between the provision for income taxes at the
U.S. statutory rate and the tax shown in the consolidated state-
ments of income are summarized as follows:

2002 2001 2000 

Tax at statutory rate of 35% $63,136 $48,982 $59,622

State and local taxes  . . . . . 1,876 1,230 1,081

U.S. tax benefit on exports  . (4,114) (4,223) (4,767)

Technology donation  . . . . . (5,163) (6,027)

Untaxed translation 
(gains)/ losses . . . . . . . . . 1,625 2,940 2,625

Other – net  . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,244) (3,096) (195) 

Provision for income taxes  . $54,116 $45,833 $52,339

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to signifi-
cant portions of deferred tax assets and liabilities at December
31 are as follows:

2002 2001 

Deferred tax assets:

Accrued compensation 
and benefits  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 56,362 $ 46,595

Intercompany profit in inventory  . . . 10,554 9,267

Net operating losses 
carried forward.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,722 6,151

Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,184 9,436

Total gross deferred tax assets  . . . . . . 78,822 71,449

Less valuation allowance . . . . . . . . . . . (3,602) (4,303)

Net deferred tax assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . 75,220 67,146

Deferred tax liabilities:

Depreciation and other 
basis differences . . . . . . . . . . . . . 101,475 91,580

Undistributed foreign 
equity income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,199 4,501

Inventory basis differences  . . . . . . . 1,659 177

Accrued compensation 
and benefits  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 65 3,889

Other  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,067 3,656

Total gross deferred tax liabilities  . . . . . 109,465 103,803

Net deferred tax liabilities  . . . . . . . . . . $ 34,245 $ 36,657
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At December 31, 2002, certain foreign subsidiaries had net oper-
ating loss carryforwards of $18.9 million for income tax purposes,
of which $1.7 million expire in years 2002 through 2012 and
$17.2 million has no expiration. After evaluating tax planning
strategies and historical and projected profitability, a valuation
allowance has been recognized to reduce the deferred tax assets
related to those carryforwards to the amount expected to be real-
ized. The net change in the total valuation allowance for the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, was a decrease of
$.7 million, an increase of $.1 million and a decrease of $1.0 mil-
lion, respectively.

U.S. income taxes and foreign withholding taxes are not provided
on undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries, which are con-
sidered to be indefinitely reinvested in the operations of such sub-
sidiaries. The amount of these earnings was approximately
$476.2 million at December 31, 2002. Determination of the net
amount of unrecognized U.S. income tax with respect to these
earnings is not practicable.

Income taxes paid during 2002, 2001 and 2000 were $48.8 mil-
lion, $49.7 million and $36.4 million, respectively.

NOTE 11 — PENSION, PROFIT SHARING AND
OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The company has noncontributory defined benefit pension plans
covering most employees. Pension benefits under these plans
are based on years of service and the employee’s compensation.
The company’s funding policy in the United States is to contribute
amounts to satisfy the Internal Revenue Service funding stan-
dards and elsewhere to fund amounts in accordance with local
regulations. Several of the company’s defined benefit plans are
not funded. Plan assets are invested principally in marketable
equity securities and fixed income instruments. 

The company also provides certain non-pension postretirement
benefits, primarily health care and life insurance benefits, for
retired employees. Most of the company’s full-time employees in
the U.S. become eligible for health care benefits after attaining
specified years of service and age 55 at retirement. Full-time
employees who retire before January 1, 2003 are also eligible for
life insurance benefits. Participants contribute a portion of the
cost of these benefits. The company’s non-pension postretire-
ment benefit plans are not funded.

Net periodic pension cost of the company’s defined benefit pen-
sion plans consists of:

2002 2001 2000 

Service cost – benefits 
earned during period  . . . $ 12,648 $ 11,673 $ 10,379

Interest cost on projected 
benefit obligation  . . . . . . 20,467 20,425 17,972

Expected return on 
plan assets . . . . . . . . . . . (26,685) (26,860) (25,809)

Amortization of prior 
service costs  . . . . . . . . . 3,208 3,127 2,124

Amortization of initial 
net asset  . . . . . . . . . . . . (703) (1,218) (1,106)

Recognized net 
actuarial gain  . . . . . . . . . (543) (1,045) (2,370)

Settlement loss . . . . . . . . . . 142

Net periodic pension cost . . $ 8,392 $ 6,244 $ 1,190

The company also has defined contribution plans, principally
involving profit sharing plans and a 401(k) savings plan, covering
most employees in the United States and at certain non-U.S.
subsidiaries. Expense for all defined contribution retirement plans
was $10.0 million in 2002, $9.6 million in 2001 and $7.9 million 
in 2000.

Net non-pension postretirement benefit cost consists of:

2002 2001 2000 

Service cost – benefits 
earned during period  . . . $ 1,636 $ 1,569 $ 1,326

Interest cost on projected 
benefit obligation  . . . . . . 6,509 6,387 5,387

Amortization of prior 
service costs  . . . . . . . . . (5,180) (4,501) (3,173)

Recognized net 
actuarial loss  . . . . . . . . . 1,723 944 7

Curtailment gain  . . . . . . . . . (1,358)

Settlement loss . . . . . . . . . . 853

Net non-pension 
postretirement 
benefit cost  . . . . . . . . . . $ 4,688 $ 3,894 $ 3,547
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The change in benefit obligation and plan assets for 2002 and 2001 and the amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets at
December 31 of the company’s defined benefit pension and non-pension postretirement plans are as follows:

Pension Plans Other Benefits 

2002 2001 2002 2001

Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 311,959 $294,835 $ 91,746 $ 74,659

Service cost  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,648 11,673 1,636 1,569

Interest cost  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,467 20,425 6,509 6,387

Plan participants’ contributions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 249 202 1,879

Actuarial loss  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15,694 15,269 11,181 42,846

Currency exchange rate change  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11,589 (5,147) 233 (114)

Amendments  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,126 2,592 (26,312)

Acquisitions  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 719

Divestitures  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5)

Curtailments  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,600)

Benefits paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (18,829) (27,890) (6,660) (6,408)

Benefit obligation at end of year  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 355,898 311,959 106,524 91,746

Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year  . . . . . . . . . . 273,714 319,635

Actual return on plan assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (19,267) (21,145)

Divestitures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5)

Employer contributions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,218 4,400 6,660 6,408

Plan participants’ contributions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 249 202

Currency exchange rate change . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,020 (1,488)

Benefits paid  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (18,829) (27,890) (6,660) (6,408)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 249,100 273,714

Plan assets greater (less) than the benefit obligation  . . . . . . . (106,798) (38,245) (106,524) (91,746)

Unrecognized net loss  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 89,510 24,138 44,809 35,755

Unrecognized net transition obligation (asset)  . . . . . . . . . . (957) (1,488) 

Unrecognized prior service cost  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 26,100 26,847 (39,965) (45,556)

Net amount recognized . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 7,855 $ 11,252 $(101,680) $(101,547)

Amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheets:

Prepaid benefit cost  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 27,778 $ 27,934

Accrued benefit liability  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (55,798) (20,361) $(101,680) $(101,547)

Accumulated other comprehensive income  . . . . . . . . . . . 31,445 2,114

Intangible asset . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,430 1,565

Net amount recognized . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 7,855 $ 11,252 $(101,680) $(101,547)

The weighted-average assumptions as of December 31:

Discount rate for determining funded status  . . . . . . . . . . . 6.34% 6.67% 6.7% 7.31%

Expected return on plan assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8.34% 8.45%

Rate of compensation increase . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3.78% 3.82%

The projected benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets for
pension plans with projected benefit obligations in excess of plan
assets were $355.2 million and $248.4 million, respectively, as of
December 31, 2002, and $304.2 million and $265.6 million,
respectively, as of December 31, 2001. The accumulated benefit
obligation and fair value of plan assets for pension plans with
accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were
$121.9 million and $85.6 million, respectively, as of December 31,
2002, and $23.7 million and $7.1 million, respectively, as of
December 31, 2001.

The weighted-average of the assumed health care cost trend
rates used in measuring the accumulated postretirement benefit
obligation for the company’s postretirement benefit plans at

December 31, 2002, was 8.77%, (8.82% at December 31,
2001), with subsequent annual decrements to an ultimate trend
rate of 4.95% by 2009. The assumed health care cost trend rates
have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the health
care plans. A one-percentage-point change in the assumed
health care cost trend rate would have the following effects as of
and for the year ended December 31, 2002:

One-Percentage-Point 

Increase Decrease

Effect on postretirement 
benefit obligation  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $25,254 $(20,208)

Effect on total service and interest 
cost components  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,766 $ (1,341)
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NOTE 12 — LEASES

The company has commitments under operating leases primarily
for office space, terminal facilities, land, railroad tank cars and vari-
ous computer and office equipment. Rental expense was $15.6
million in 2002, $14.0 million in 2001 and $16.2 million in 2000.
Future minimum rental commitments under operating leases hav-
ing initial or remaining non-cancelable lease terms exceeding one
year are $12.6 million in 2003, $7.8 million in 2004, $6.7 million in
2005, $3.5 million in 2006, $2.8 million in 2007 and $8.6 million
thereafter. Minimum rental commitments are net of estimated
credits for railroad usage of $1.7 million in 2003, $1.4 million in
2004, $1.2 million in 2005, $.7 million in 2006, $.4 million in 2007
and $.3 million thereafter. 

NOTE 13 — BUSINESS SEGMENTS AND 
GEOGRAPHIC REPORTING

Beginning in 2002, the company reorganized its product lines
into four principal operating segments: fluid technologies for
transportation, fluid technologies for industry, advanced fluid sys-
tems and emulsified products. Accordingly, the segment informa-
tion for prior years has been restated to conform to the current
operating structure.

Fluid technologies for transportation (FTT) is comprised of addi-
tives for lubricating engine oils, such as gasoline, diesel, marine
and stationary gas engines and additive components; additives
for driveline oils, such as automatic transmission fluids, gear oils
and tractor lubricants; and additives for fuel products and refinery
and oil field chemicals. In addition, this segment sells additive
components and viscosity improvers within its lubricant and fuel
additives product lines. The company’s fluid technologies for
transportation product lines are generally produced in shared
company manufacturing facilities and sold largely to a common
customer base. Fluid technologies for industry (FTI) includes
industrial additives, such as additives for hydraulic, grease and
metalworking fluids and compressor lubricants; and performance
chemicals, such as additives for coatings and inks, defoamers
and process chemicals. The advanced fluid systems and emulsi-
fied products operating segments do not constitute reportable
business segments. The results of these two operating segments
have been aggregated into the all other segment. Advanced fluid
systems is comprised of fluid metering devices, particulate emis-
sion trap devices, and FluiPak™ sensor systems, and emulsified
products is comprised of PuriNOx™ low-emissions diesel fuel. 

The company’s accounting policies for its operating segments are
the same as those described in Note 2. The company evaluates
performance and allocates resources based on segment contri-
bution income, which is revenues less expenses directly identifi-
able to the product lines aggregated within each segment, as well
as projected future returns. 

The following table presents a summary of the company’s
reportable segments for the years ended December 31:

2002 2001 2000 

Fluid technologies 
for transportation:

Revenues from 
external customers  . . . $1,576,000 $1,520,710 $1,451,194

Equity earnings  . . . . . . . . 923 4,078 3,066

Goodwill and intangibles 
amortization  . . . . . . . . 2,924 5,593 5,290

Segment contribution 
income  . . . . . . . . . . . . 312,129 283,413 272,022

Segment total assets  . . . 1,121,387 1,079,903 1,145,131

Capital expenditures  . . . . 56,965 60,304 79,762

Depreciation  . . . . . . . . . . 83,624 78,208 81,769

Fluid technologies 
for industry:

Revenues from 
external customers  . . . $ 382,425 $ 300,247 $ 296,881 

Equity earnings  . . . . . . . . 63 280 172

Goodwill and intangibles 
amortization  . . . . . . . . 1,282 7,410 6,414 

Segment contribution 
income  . . . . . . . . . . . . 70,236 46,522 56,306 

Segment total assets  . . . 326,728 212,137 201,047 

Capital expenditures  . . . . 8,043 5,586 5,623 

Depreciation  . . . . . . . . . . 7,019 5,570 5,297 

All other:

Revenues from 
external customers  . . . $ 25,442 $ 23,687 $ 27,705

Equity earnings (loss) . . . . (2,162) (1,755)

Goodwill and intangibles 
amortization  . . . . . . . . 1,155 1,143 

Segment contribution 
income (loss) . . . . . . . . (10,249) (18,175) (10,916)

Segment total assets  . . . 22,278 29,303 36,386 

Capital expenditures  . . . . 277 426 372 

Depreciation  . . . . . . . . . . 982 936 921 

Reconciliation to 
consolidated income 
before tax:

Segment contribution 
income  . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 372,116 $ 311,760 $ 317,412 

Corporate expenses  . . . . (172,923) (150,217) (149,264)

Corporate other 
income (loss) . . . . . . . . (2,204) (3,340) (3,421)

Gain from litigation 
settlement . . . . . . . . . . 19,395 

Special (charges) credits  . 4,484 

Interest expense – net  . . . (16,601) (18,254) (18,258)

Income before income 
taxes and cumulative 
effect of change in 
accounting principle  . . $ 180,388 $ 139,949 $ 170,348
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2002 2001 2000 

Revenues from 
external customers 
by product group:

Engine oil additives  . . . . . $1,075,246 $1,018,935 $ 943,998 

Driveline oil additives  . . . . 412,416 396,683 389,692 

Fuel additives and 
refinery oil additives . . . 67,820 75,563 91,037 

Additive components  . . . 20,518 29,529 26,467 

Fluid technologies for 
transportation  . . . . . . . 1,576,000 1,520,710 1,451,194 

Industrial additives . . . . . . 194,782 182,374 184,650 

Performance chemicals . . 187,643 117,873 112,231 

Fluid technologies 
for industry  . . . . . . . . . 382,425 300,247 296,881 

All Other  . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25,442 23,687 27,705 

Total revenues from 
external customers  . . . . . $1,983,867 $1,844,644 $1,775,780 

In order to conform amounts to current-year classifications, prior-
year 2001 and 2000 amounts have been restated to reflect
reclassifications of products between fluid technologies for trans-
portation and fluid technologies for industry operating segments
and to reflect the exclusion for internal management reporting
purposes, effective January 1, 2000, of excess production
capacity from product costs. 

Revenues are attributable to countries based on the location of
the customer. The United States of America is the only country
where sales to external customers comprise in excess of 10% of
the company’s consolidated revenues. Revenues from external
customers by geographic zone are as follows:

2002 2001 2000 

United States of America . . . $ 810,754 $ 738,306 $ 698,731 

Other North American  . . . . . 87,737 84,968 65,514 

Europe, Middle East  . . . . . . 552,695 512,144 493,726 

Asia-Pacific  . . . . . . . . . . . . . 405,422 377,193 380,555 

Latin America . . . . . . . . . . . . 127,259 132,033 137,254 

Total revenues from 
external customers  . . . . . $1,983,867 $1,844,644 $1,775,780 

The company’s sales and receivables are concentrated in the oil
and chemical industries. The company’s lubricant and fuel addi-
tive customers consist primarily of oil refiners and independent oil
blenders and are located in more than 100 countries. The 10
largest customers, most of which are international oil companies
and a number of which are groups of affiliated entities, com-
prised approximately 55% of consolidated sales in 2002, 53% of
consolidated sales in 2001 and 48% of consolidated sales in
2000. In 2002, the company’s first and second largest cus-
tomers, including their affiliated entities, predominantly within 
fluid technologies for transportation segment, accounted for rev-
enues of $229.7 million and $195.2 million, respectively. In 2001,
there was no single customer that accounted for more than 10%
of revenues. In 2000, the company’s largest single customer,
including its affiliated entities, predominantly within fluid technolo-
gies for transportation segment, accounted for revenues of
$185.3 million.

The table below presents a reconciliation of segment total assets
to consolidated total assets for the years ended December 31:

2002 2001 2000 

Total segment assets  . . . . . $1,470,393 $1,321,343 $1,382,564 

Corporate assets  . . . . . . . . 389,744 340,976 276,926 

Total consolidated assets  . . $1,860,137 $1,662,319 $1,659,490 

Segment assets include receivables, inventories and long-lived
assets including goodwill and intangible assets. Corporate assets
include cash and short-term investments, investments accounted
for on the cost basis and other current and noncurrent assets. 

The company’s principal long-lived assets are located in the fol-
lowing countries at December 31:

2002 2001 2000 

United States  . . . . . . . . . . . $617,410 $532,827 $535,909 

France  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 69,421 66,638 77,806 

England  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 81,267 106,008 114,174 

All other  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 122,571 105,366 119,946 

Total long-lived assets  . . . . $890,669 $810,839 $847,835 

Net income of non-U.S. subsidiaries was $41 million in 2002, 
$35 million in 2001 and $45 million in 2000; dividends received
from these subsidiaries were $12 million, $55 million and $31 mil-
lion, respectively.

NOTE 14 — STOCK COMPENSATION PLANS

The 1991 Stock Incentive Plan provides for the granting of restrict-
ed and unrestricted shares and options to buy common shares up
to an amount equal to 1% of the outstanding common shares at
the beginning of any year, plus any unused amount from prior
years. Options are intended either to qualify as “incentive stock
options” under the Internal Revenue Code or to be “non-statutory
stock options” not intended to so qualify. Under the 1991 Plan,
options generally become exercisable 50% one year after grant,
75% after two years, 100% after three years, and expire up to 10
years after grant. “Reload options,” which are options to purchase
additional shares if a grantee uses already-owned shares to pay
for an option exercise, are granted automatically once per year for
options granted prior to March 28, 2000, under the 1991 Plan;
may be granted at the discretion of the administering committee
under the 1985 Employee Stock Option Plan and for options
granted on or after March 28, 2000, under the 1991 Plan; and
have been eliminated under the 1991 Plan for grants of options
occurring on or after November 11, 2002. The 1991 Plan gener-
ally supersedes the 1985 Plan, although options outstanding
under the 1985 Plan remain exercisable until their expiration
dates. The option price for stock options under the 1985 Plan is
the fair market value of the shares on the date of grant. The option
price for stock options under the 1991 Plan is not less than the
fair market value of the shares on the date of grant. Both plans
permit or permitted the granting of stock appreciation rights in
connection with the grant of options. In addition, the 1991 Plan
provides to each outside director of the company an automatic
annual grant of an option to purchase 2,500 common shares, with
terms generally comparable to employee stock options. In 2001,
the 1991 Plan provided for the grant to each outside director of a
one-time additional option to purchase 2,500 common shares as
an incentive relating to Lubrizol’s five-year strategic initiatives. 



THE LUBRIZOL CORPORATION

39

Under the 1991 Stock Incentive Plan, the company has granted
performance share stock awards to certain executive officers.
Common shares equal to the number of performance share
stock awards granted will be issued if the market price of the
company’s common stock reaches $45 per common share for
10 consecutive trading days, or on March 24, 2003, whichever
occurs first. Under certain conditions such as retirement, a
grantee of performance share stock awards may be issued a pro-
rata number of common shares. The market value of the com-
pany’s common shares at date of grant of the performance share
stock awards was $33.45 per share (for 500 awards) in 2002,
$30.40 per share (for 750 awards) in 2001, $28.06 per share (for
3,000 awards) and $25.38 (for 1,500 awards) in 2000. The com-
pany recognizes compensation expense related to performance
share stock awards ratably over the estimated period of vesting.
Compensation costs recognized for performance share stock
awards were approximately $56 thousand in 2002, $50 thousand
in 2001 and $.1 million in 2000. 

Under a supplemental retirement plan, an account for the partici-
pant is credited with 500 share units each year and is credited
with additional share units for quarterly dividends paid on the
company’s shares. When the participant retires, the company will
issue shares equal to the number of share units in the partici-
pant’s account. The company has allocated 546, 528 and 517
share units under this plan in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
At December 31, 2002, 1,591 share units were outstanding.
Compensation costs recognized for this plan were less than $20
thousand per year in 2002, 2001 and 2000.

Under the deferred stock compensation plan for outside direc-
tors, each nonemployee director receives 500 share units on
each October 1 and is credited with additional share units for
quarterly dividends paid on the company’s shares. When a par-
ticipant ceases to be a director, the company issues shares equal
to the number of share units in the director’s account. The com-
pany has allocated to nonemployee directors 6,208, 6,028 and
6,210 share units under this plan in 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively. Director fee expense recognized for share units was
approximately $.2 million in 2002, $.2 million in 2001 and $.1 
million in 2000. At December 31, 2002, 36,251 share units for
nonemployee directors were outstanding. 

In addition, under a separate deferred compensation plan for 
outside directors, the company has allocated to nonemployee
directors 573, 547 and 747 share units under this plan in 2002,
2001 and 2000, respectively. These share units continue to
accrue quarterly dividends paid on the company’s shares. When
a participant ceases to be a director, the company issues share
equal to the number of share units in the director’s account. At
December 31, 2002, 18,236 share units for nonemployee direc-
tors were outstanding. Director fee expense recognized for share
units for this plan were less than $20 thousand per year in 2002,
2001 and 2000.

Under the deferred compensation plan for executive officers, par-
ticipants may elect to defer any amount of their variable pay.
Deferred amounts are converted into share units based on the
current market price of the company’s shares, which are then
multiplied by 1.25. Additional share units are credited for quarterly
dividends paid on the company’s shares. At the end of the defer-

ral period, which is at least three years, the company issues
shares equal to the number of share units in the participant’s
account. The company has allocated to executive officers 8,010,
16,628 and 26,787 share units under this plan in 2002, 2001 and
2000, respectively. Compensation costs recognized for share
units were approximately $.3 million in 2002, $.5 million in 2001
and $.7 million in 2000. At December 31, 2002, 61,588 share
units for executive officers were outstanding.

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America encourage the fair-value based method of accounting for
stock compensation plans under which the value of stock-based
compensation is estimated at the date of grant using valuation
formulas, but permit the use of intrinsic-value accounting. The
company accounts for its stock compensation plans using the
intrinsic-value accounting method (measured as the difference
between the exercise price and the market value of the stock at
date of grant). 

Disclosures under the fair value method are estimated using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-
average assumptions for grants of stock options in the following
years:

2002 2001 2000 

1991 plan:

Risk-free interest rate  . . . 5.2% 5.1% 6.0%

Dividend yield . . . . . . . . . 3.1% 2.9% 4.0%

Volatility  . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24% 25% 27%

Expected life (years)  . . . . 8.4 9.7 9.8

Performance share plan:

Risk-free interest rate  . . . 2.4% 3.2% 6.5%

Dividend yield . . . . . . . . . 3.1% 2.9% 4.0%

Volatility  . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24% 25% 27%

Expected life (years)  . . . . 1.0 2.0 3.0

If the fair value method to measure compensation cost for the
company’s stock compensation plans had been used, including
the performance share stock awards, the company’s net income
would have been reduced by $6.1 million in 2002, $6.0 million in
2001 and $3.6 million in 2000 with a corresponding reduction in net
income per share of $.12 in 2002, $.12 in 2001 and $.07 in 2000.

Information regarding these option plans, excluding the perfor-
mance share stock awards, follows:

Weighted-
Average

Shares Exercise Price 

Outstanding, January 1, 2002  . . . . . . 4,827,266 $30.74

Granted  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 949,102 34.06

Exercised . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (396,420) 29.25

Forfeited  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (107,225) 34.11

Outstanding, December 31, 2002  . . . 5,272,723 $31.38

Options exercisable, 
December 31, 2002  . . . . . . . . . . . 3,560,650 $31.10

Weighted-average fair value of 
options granted during the year . . . $ 8.99



Weighted-
Average

Shares Exercise Price 

Outstanding, January 1, 2001  . . . . . . 4,624,135 $30.68

Granted  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,461,945 30.39

Exercised . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (911,696) 28.05

Forfeited  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (347,118) 35.64

Outstanding, December 31, 2001  . . . 4,827,266 $30.74

Options exercisable, 
December 31, 2001  . . . . . . . . . . . 2,850,184 $31.73

Weighted-average fair value of 
options granted during the year . . . $ 8.69

Outstanding, January 1, 2000  . . . . . . 3,968,742 $31.06

Granted  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 816,136 28.02

Exercised . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (77,898) 20.41

Forfeited  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (82,845) 32.08

Outstanding, December 31, 2000  . . . 4,624,135 $30.68

Options exercisable, 
December 31, 2000  . . . . . . . . . . . 3,415,820 $31.87

Weighted-average fair value of 
options granted during the year . . . $7.49

Information regarding the performance share stock awards 
follows:

Shares

Outstanding, January 1, 2002 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 66,250

Granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 500

Forfeited  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (918)

Common Shares Issued  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,082)

Outstanding, December 31, 2002 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 60,750

Outstanding, January 1, 2001 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 65,500

Granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 750

Outstanding, December 31, 2001 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 66,250

Outstanding, January 1, 2000 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 67,000

Granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,500

Forfeited  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,043)

Common Shares Issued  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,957)

Outstanding, December 31, 2000 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 65,500

The weighted-average fair value per share was $32.16 in 2002,
$28.69 in 2001 and $24.11 in 2000.
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The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding, excluding the performance share stock awards, at 
December 31, 2002:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable 

Number Weighted-Average Weighted- Number Weighted-
Range of Outstanding Remaining Average Exercisable Average
exercise prices at 12/31/02 Contractual Life Exercise Price at 12/31/02 Exercise Price

$19 – $25 . . . . . . . 320,553 6.1 Years $21.35 319,303 $21.35

25 – 31  . . . . . . . 2,743,385 6.9 29.51 1,894,712 29.35

31 – 38  . . . . . . . 2,202,649 5.5 35.15 1,340,499 35.84

38 – 45  . . . . . . . 6,136 5.1 38.32 6,136 38.32

5,272,723 6.2 $31.38 3,560,650 $31.10 

NOTE 15 — ACQUISITIONS AND INVESTMENTS IN
NONCONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

In 2002, the company completed several acquisitions, primarily in
the fluid technologies for industry segment, for cash of $86.7 mil-
lion. In the first quarter, the company acquired Kabo Unlimited,
Inc., which specializes in the development, manufacture and sale
of antifoam and defoaming agents to the food, fermentation, min-
ing and wastewater industries. Kabo’s product lines expand the
company’s defoamer business. In the second quarter, the com-
pany acquired Chemron Corporation, which formulates, pro-
duces and supplies specialty surfactants used in personal care
products, industrial cleaners and a wide range of other consumer
and industrial products. The acquisition extends the company’s
existing surfactants business into growth markets where the
company had not previously competed. In October 2002, the
company acquired Dock Resins Corporation, which develops,
manufactures and sells proprietary polymers including acrylic,
methacrylic, alkyd, and polyester resins to customers in the paint
and coatings, printing ink, laminating, adhesives and sealants,

and grease markets. In October 2002, the company also
acquired Intermountain Specialties, Inc., known as Brose Chemi-
cal Company, which has product lines that complement the com-
pany’s integrated defoamer business that are now manufactured
in the Kabo foam control facility. Annualized 2002 revenues for
these acquisitions in the aggregate are approximately $85 million. 

Effective January 1, 2002, the company began accounting for the
investment in its India joint venture, Lubrizol India Private Limited
(Lubrizol India), through consolidation because an amendment to
the joint venture agreement gave the company control as of that
date. The company has ownership of 50% of the voting shares.
The amended joint venture agreement grants the company the
authority to appoint three of Lubrizol India’s six board directors
and the unilateral and perpetual ability to appoint its managing
director. Further, the amended joint venture agreement delegates
to the managing director the authority to make all significant deci-
sions to run the day-to-day business of Lubrizol India. The com-
pany had previously accounted for its investment under the equity



method of accounting because the company’s joint venture 
partner held certain substantive participating rights, which were
eliminated with the amendment to the joint venture agreement.
The change to consolidate Lubrizol India had the effect of
increasing revenues and total cost and expenses by $50.4 million
and $41.1 million, respectively, for the year-ended 2002. The
change had no impact on net income, but resulted in the record-
ing of 100% of Lubrizol India’s assets and liabilities, which is offset
by our partner’s minority interest. 

The fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the
2002 acquisitions and the impact on the balance sheet from the
consolidation of Lubrizol India is as follows:

Assets and
Liabilities Acquired

In 2002 

Cash  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,762 

Receivables  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23,463 

Inventories  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25,816 

Prepaid assets.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 767 

Property . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 43,752 

Investment in equity affiliates (Lubrizol India) . . . . . . (22,911)

Goodwill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32,672 

Intangibles  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17,185 

Other assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 482 

Total Assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 123,988 

Short-term debt  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,006

Accounts payable  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,984

Accrued expenses  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,495

Long-term debt  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,248

Minority interest  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22,584

Total liabilities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37,317

Increase in net assets from acquisitions and 
consolidation of LZ India. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 86,671 

In 2001, the company spent $14.7 million on an acquisition to
purchase ROSS Chem, Inc., a manufacturer and supplier of
antifoam and defoaming agents, with annual revenues of $10.0
million, that expanded the company’s product lines in metal-
working and paints, coatings and inks. Also in 2001, the com-
pany dissolved the joint venture with GE Transportation Systems
and replaced the joint venture with separate cross-licensing
agreements. 

In 2000, the company acquired certain assets of a metalworking
additive company with 1999 revenues of approximately $20 mil-
lion; acquired an additional 10% interest in its India joint venture,
bringing the ownership interest up to 50%; and invested in a joint
venture with GE Transportation Systems relating to products and
services for diesel engine fluids. The company’s aggregate invest-
ment in these acquisitions was approximately $41 million. 

NOTE 16 — SPECIAL CHARGES

In 2000, the company completed a cost reduction program,
which began in the third quarter of 1999, involving the downsizing
of the Painesville, Ohio, manufacturing facility. This resulted in the
reduction of approximately 5% of the company’s workforce in
2000, or 187 employees, and the shutdown of 20 of Painesville’s
36 production systems. Approximately 23% of the workforce
reduction and shutdown of 12 of the production systems
occurred during 1999. The remainder of the workforce reduction
and production system shutdowns was completed in 2000. 

The company initially recognized a special charge of $20.8 mil-
lion related to this program in the third quarter of 1999. In the
second quarter of 2000, the company recorded an adjustment
of $2.6 million to reduce the amount of the special charge related
to this program, principally because the cost of workforce reduc-
tions at the company’s Painesville facility was less than originally
anticipated. After-tax this adjustment increased net income by
$1.7 million or $.03 per share. In the fourth quarter of 2000, the
company recorded a pre-tax adjustment of $1.9 million ($1.2
million after-tax or $.02 per share), to further reduce the amount
of the special charge due to lower than anticipated equipment
dismantling costs ($1.5 million) and lower workforce reduction
costs ($.4 million).

As adjusted, the cost reduction program included workforce
reduction cost estimated at $5.5 million and other exit costs esti-
mated at $10.8 million, including $7.4 million related to asset
impairments for production units to be taken out of service. 
Cash expenditures were minimal in 2002 and were approximately
$1.8 million, and $.9 million in 2001 and 2000, respectively.  

NOTE 17 — LITIGATION

The company previously filed claims against Exxon Corporation
and / or its affiliates relating to various commercial matters, 
including alleged infringements by Exxon of certain of the com-
pany’s patents. 

On October 12, 2000, the company reached a settlement of all
pending patent litigation with Imperial Oil Limited (Imperial), a
Canadian affiliate of Exxon Mobil Corporation. Under the settle-
ment agreement, Lubrizol received cash of $25.0 million in 
October 2000. After deducting related expenses, this settlement
increased pre-tax income by $19.4 million in 2000. 

The company is party to lawsuits, threatened lawsuits, and other
claims arising out of the normal course of business. Manage-
ment is of the opinion that any liabilities that may result are 
adequately covered by insurance, or to the extent not covered by
insurance, are adequately accrued for at December 31, 2002, or
would not be significant in relation to the company’s financial
position at December 31, 2002, or its results of operations for the
year then ended. 
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HISTORICAL SUMMARY

THE LUBRIZOL CORPORATION

(IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT SHAREHOLDERS, EMPLOYEES AND PER SHARE DATA) 2002 2001 2000 1999

OPERATING RESULTS:

Revenues  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,983.9 $1,844.6 $1,775.8 $1,780.3 

Total cost and expenses  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,781.5 1,671.4 1,597.0 1,554.5 

Other income (charges)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (22.0) (33.3) (8.4) (30.5)

Income before cumulative effect 
of change in accounting principle . . . . . . . . . . . . 126.3 94.1 118.0 123.0

Cumulative effect of change in accounting 
principle . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (7.8)

Net income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 118.5 94.1 118.0 123.0 

– Before unusual items*  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 126.3 94.1 103.1 125.3 

Income per share before cumulative effect 
of change in accounting principle . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.45 1.84 2.22 2.25

Cumulative effect of change in accounting 
principle per share  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (0.15)

Net income per share  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.30 1.84 2.22 2.25 

– Before unusual items*  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.45 1.84 1.94 2.30 

FINANCIAL RATIOS:

Gross profit percentage  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28.5 27.4 27.8 30.9 

Percent of revenues:

Selling and administrative expenses . . . . . . . . . . 9.9 9.6 9.5 10.2 

Research and testing expenses  . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8.5 8.6 8.5 8.2 

Return on average shareholders’ equity (%) . . . . . . 14.4 12.3 15.3 15.8 

– Before unusual items* (%)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15.4 12.3 13.4 16.1 

Debt to capitalization (%)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31.6 33.9 34.5 33.8 

Current ratio  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3.0 2.9 2.6 2.5 

OTHER INFORMATION:

Dividends declared per share  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1.04 $1.04 $1.04 $1.04 

Average common shares outstanding  . . . . . . . . . . 51.5 51.2 53.1 54.6 

Capital expenditures  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $65.3 $66.3 $85.8 $64.9 

Depreciation expense  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 91.6 84.7 88.0 88.3 

At year end:

Total assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,860.1 $1,662.3 $1,659.5 $1,682.4 

Total debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 401.9 397.2 395.9 403.0 

Total shareholders’ equity  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 869.3 773.2 752.3 790.1 

Shareholders’ equity per share  . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16.89 15.12 14.66 14.50 

Common share price  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30.50 35.09 25.75 30.88 

Number of shareholders  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,081 4,335 4,681 5,126 

Number of employees  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,231 4,530 4,390 4,074 
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*Unusual items include special charges and credits for restructuring and for write-off of purchased technology, gains on investments, litigation settlement
gains and the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle (SFAS 142 in 2002 and SFAS 106 in 1993).

In 2000 the company began reporting shipping fees and shipping costs gross in net sales and cost of sales, respectively. The company had previously 
netted shipping fees against shipping costs in cost of sales. This change has no effect on the dollar amount of the company's gross profit or net income.
Revenues, total cost and expenses, and gross profit percentage for 1996-1999 have been reclassified to conform with current period classification. 
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1998 1997 1996 1995 1994 1993 1992

$1,650.2 $1,706.9 $1,629.2 $1,663.6 $1,599.0 $1,525.5 $1,552.2

1,496.3 1,474.6 1,434.6 1,478.0 1,397.0 1,362.2 1,390.5  

(35.0) (1.1) 56.1 40.0 49.4 (43.6) 15.4 

71.2 154.9 169.8 151.6 175.6 85.0 124.6

(39.4)

71.2 154.9 169.8 151.6 175.6 45.6 124.6 

86.5 154.9 135.2 126.6 148.8 113.5 124.6 

1.27 2.68 2.80 2.37 2.67 1.25 1.81

(0.58)

1.27 2.68 2.80 2.37 2.67 .67 1.81 

1.55 2.68 2.23 1.98 2.26 1.67 1.81 

29.2 32.1 31.4 31.5 32.7 32.0 31.7  

10.9 10.0 9.7 9.8 10.0 10.4 11.7  

9.1 8.6 9.9 10.8 10.3 11.2 10.0  

9.0 19.0 20.4 18.0 22.5 5.9 15.4  

10.9 19.0 16.2 15.1 19.0 14.6 15.4  

35.8 21.3 19.5 22.5 16.8 8.7 5.6  

2.5 2.5 2.6 2.4 2.5 2.5 2.9  

$1.04 $ 1.01 $ .97 $ .93 $ .89 $ .85 $ .81  

55.9 57.8 60.7 63.8 65.7 67.7 69.0  

$93.4 $100.7 $94.3 $189.3 $160.5 $127.9 $95.8  

79.7 82.7 78.7 71.8 63.9 59.6 58.4 

$1,643.2 $1,462.3 $1,402.1 $1,492.0 $1,394.4 $1,182.6 $1,127.1   

429.3 220.3 198.5 247.1 167.9 69.6 48.4 

769.1 815.4 819.4 849.0 832.0 732.2 819.4  

14.10 14.31 14.00 13.48 12.83 11.00 11.97 

25.69 36.88 31.00 27.75 33.88 34.13 27.25 

5,609 5,661 5,764 6,304 6,494 6,616 6,822  

4,324 4,291 4,358 4,601 4,520 4,613 4,609  
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